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MISSION
STATEMENT

As a research-extensive land-grant university, North
Carolina State University is dedicated to excellent
teaching, the creation and application of knowledge, and
engagement with public and private partners. By uniting
our strength in science and technology with a
commitment to excellence in a comprehensive range of
disciplines, NC State promotes an integrated approach to
problem solving that transforms lives and provides
leadership for social, economic, and technological
development across North Carolina and around the
world.
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LETTER FROM THE CHANCELLOR

Like other large, research universities, NC State felt the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic in fiscal year
2021, and the impact continues in fiscal 2022. However, through a multitude of factors, we are coming
through the pandemic without a loss of our institutional momentum. We responded rapidly to hybrid delivery
of high quality education, built a robust COVID-19 on-campus testing program, and expanded our already
high level of research. Along with federal and state relief funds, judicious spending, growing endowment,
and good financial practices, we were able to produce solid financial results for fiscal 2021.

We continue to receive strong operating support from the State of North Carolina. We operated under a con-
tinuing budget resolution for fiscal 2020 and 2021, but the state recently passed (with bilateral support) a
budget that provides the university with additional funds for enrollment growth, the expansion of our engi-
neering program, significant capital funds, and legislative funding for employee salary increases and bonus-
es.

We have a strong commitment to maintaining affordability for our 37,000 students, and in this spirit, we held
tuition and fees flat for North Carolina residents for fiscal 2021 and 2022. This commitment to a low-cost,
quality education has led to national recognition for value. Money Magazine named NC State the #1 Best
College for Your Money in North Carolina, and U.S. News and World Report ranked the university #6 best
value among national public universities. We have seen a steady increase in demand for an NC State educa-
tion with nearly 33,000 applicants for first year space in the Class of 2024. We accepted 47% of those appli-
cants, and enrolled our largest ever first year class of 5,011 students.

NC State's outstanding research accomplishments and recognitions over the past year strengthened our
reputation for entrepreneurship and innovation, enhancing Raleigh's standing as a tech-hub and serving as
an economic driver for the State of North Carolina. In fiscal 2020, our faculty submitted $1.4 billion in re-
search proposals. We rank sixth in industry research expenditures among public institutions without a medi-
cal school and sixth in all expenditures among public institutions without a medical school. We recently an-
nounced a new Artificial Intelligence Institute, funded by a five-year, $20 million grant from the National Sci-
ence Foundation (NSF), and a $25 million research grant to fund a new NSF Science and Technology Cen-
ter—Science and Technologies for Phosphorous Sustainability (STEPS). To meet industry demand, the state
is providing NC State with funds to grow its engineering program by 4,000 students.

The year 2020-2021 was another record-breaking year for partnerships and financial support from donors.
Gifts and new commitments to the university totaled $235 million, making it the best fundraising year in NC
State's history. Our $1.95 billion endowment at June 30, 2021 is one of the fastest growing among the larg-
est U.S. endowments.

NC State has long been a model of financial stability, and our financial strengths include very solid revenue
diversity and well-managed financial operations. Throughout the pandemic, our strategic reserves allowed us
to respond in way that would not damage our institutional momentum or strategic plan. Fiscal 2021 opera-
tions were challenged by the loss of sales and services revenue, but the federal and state relief funds we
received, reduced spending, growing research, consistent philanthropy and strong investment performance
allowed us to maintain our financial profile.

wg (obodblen

W. Randolph Woodson, Chancellor
NC State University
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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

To: Chancellor W. Randolph Woodson and the Board of Trustees
North Carolina State University

| am pleased to present North Carolina State University’s 2021 Annual Financial Report. Prepared by Finance
and Administration staff in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for public colleges and
universities as defined by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the report contains detailed infor-
mation about the university's financial activities. This report includes key financial data for the past five
years, complete financial statements with management analysis, the Office of the State Auditor’s report,
and recent achievements. Supplemental information includes trend data relating to admissions, enrollment,
degrees awarded, faculty, endowment, and debt coverage. The information enclosed is accurate in all mate-
rial respects and reported in a manner fairly representing the university's financial position to the best of our
knowledge. NC State maintains an effective system of internal controls to ensure that financial assets are
safe and transactions are properly executed and recorded.

Financial Report Highlights

. The university's financial assets were $3.88 billion.

. Net position grew by $313.9 million or 42.0% during the reporting period. Beginning net position
was $747.7 million and ending net position was $1.06 billion.

U Revenues and expenses (operating, nonoperating and other) were $1.87 billion and $1.56 billion,
respectively.

U Revenues exceeded expenses by $191.0 million (net income) before capital revenues of $114.6
million and additions to endowments of $8.3 million.

U Revenues (operating, nonoperating and other) increased by $118.1 million or 6.7 %, primarily due to

increases in nonoperating revenues of investment income and noncapital and capital contributions.
This was offset by decreases in sales and services and tuition and fees as a result of COVID-19.

. Expenses decreased by $65.6 million or 4.0%, with salaries and benefits and supplies and ser
vices showing the largest decreases.

NC State upholds its commitment to financial stewardship and its overarching goal of solving the grand chal-
lenges of an increasingly complex world. In this way the university preserves its Land Grant mission to cre-

ate economic, societal and intellectual prosperity for the people of North Carolina and the United States.

Sincerely,

L/ 7{/4‘4{0 %//15 e

Charles A. Maimone
Vice Chancellor for Finance and Adminstration
NC State University
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NC STATE PRIDE POINTS

Essential Facts and Figures

36,700+ students, 2,400+ faculty and 7,200+ staff

Educating more North Carolinians than any other university

Student-faculty ratio 15:1

12 colleges representing all major academic fields

More than 300 undergraduate and graduate degree programs offered through 68 departments
NC State Extension serves citizens in all 100 counties and the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians
$1.4 billion endowment, among the top 90 largest higher-education endowments in the country
$1.714 billion budget for fiscal year 2020

Ranked Among the Best

Top 1% of universities worldwide (Center for World University Rankings)

#1 best public college of North Carolina (Money)

#3 graduate nuclear engineering program nationally (U.S. News & World Report)

#4 graduate mechanical engineering program nationally (U.S. News & World Report)
#4 veterinary medicine program nationally (U.S. News & World Report)

#6 online graduate engineering program nationally (U.S. News & World Report)

#1 graduate biological/agricultural engineering program nationally (U.S. News & World Report)
#8 in MBA programs with the best return on investment (Poets & Quants)

#12 online MBA nationally (Princeton Review)

#13 best alumni network among public schools nationally (Princeton Review)

#13 best value among public schools nationally (Princeton Review)

#13 game design program among public schools worldwide (Princeton Review)

#15 best public school for internships nationally (Princeton Review)

#16 graduate statistics program nationally (U.S. News & World Report)

#16 in undergraduate entrepreneurship nationally (Princeton Review)

#17 in graduate entrepreneurship nationally (Princeton Review)

#18 best public school for making an impact nationally (Princeton Review)

#29 best national university (Washington Monthly)

#30 public institution worldwide (Wall Street Journal/Times Higher Education)

Academic Excellence: Brightest Students, Best Faculty

6

Recent first-year classes boast the highest ACT and SAT scores in university history
More than 100 of our students were national scholars and fellows over the past five years

The Chancellor's Faculty Excellence Program groups world-leading educators and researchers into 20 interdisciplinary clusters, including
bioinformatics, precision medicine and public science

NC State ranks #3 among national research universities in producing Fulbright Scholars

Twenty-three of our faculty are members of the National Academies

2021 NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNIVERSITY FINANCIAL REPORT



NC STATE PRIDE POINTS

Driving Economic Prosperity

170+ startups and spinoffs based on NC State research, attracting a total of $1.7 hillion in venture capital
#2 nationwide in licenses and options extended among universities without a medical school; #4 for startups launched
1,500+ patents issued in the U.S., yielding 600+ consumer products

The Wolfpack Investor Network (WIN) matches NC State alumni investors with promising university-affiliated startups to facilitate mentoring,
support and angel investments for entrepreneurial businesses. WIN currently has 150 members, and WIN members have invested more than
$10 million in 18 NC State startups.

The Milken Institute, an economic think tank, cited the collaboration and innovation fostered by NC State- and particularly by Centennial Cam-
pus - as key reasons why Raleigh is the one of the top 11 best-performing large cities in the United States.

NC State and its students, alumni and associated startups generate $6.5 billion of North Carolina income annually.

A National Leader in Attracting Sponsored Research and Interdisciplinary Partnerships That Make a Difference

#4 in the nation for the share of our research sponsored by private industry, according to the Information Technology and Innovation
Foundation

One of only two universities in the nation leading two National Science Foundation Engineering Research Centers:
o The FREEDM Systems Center researching smart-grid technology
o The ASSIST Center developing wearable, self-powered health monitors
The first North American location for an IBM Q Hub, a collaborative effort to advance quantum computing
Leading three federally funded collaborative institutes tackling some of the world's biggest challenges:
o  $140 million PowerAmerica initiative, developing an advanced power electronics manufacturing sector for the Department of Energy
o  $60 million Laboratory for Analytic Sceinces studying data analytics for the National Security Agency

e $25million Consortium for Nonproliferation Enabling Capabilities combating the spread of nuclear weapons for the National Nuclear
Security Administration

A partner in seven of the 14 public-private institutes that make up Manufacturing USA, a federal initiative to revitalize the U.S. manufacturing
industry

Home to The Southeast Climate Adaption Science Center, one of eight such centers in the United States

NC State’s Centennial Campus

A national model for partnership-driven research campuses

NC State’s Centennial Campus is a nationally acclaimed public-private research campus where 70+ corporate, government and nonprofit part-
ners work alongside 70+ research and academic units

Home to the College of Engineering, the Wilson College of Textiles, the College of Veterinary Medicine, and the Institute ofEmerging Issues, a
think tank focused on tackling big issues that affect North Carolina’s prosperity

Supports lifelong learning through K-12, graduate and continuing education, distance and online learning, and executive education
Houses the Office of Research and Innovation, which supports the university's research and commercialization mission

James B. Hunt, Jr. Library: Winner of the prestigious Stanford Prize for Innovation in Research Libraries, and one of the most technologically
advanced learning and collaboration spaces in the world

Offers a wealth of dining options, housing and amenities, most of which are available to the public
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017-2021
(DOLLARS ARE IN MILLIONS)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
University Net Position
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt $1,413.7 $1,441.2 $1,512.5 $1,585.2 $1,637.3
Restricted Nonexpendable $129.0 $143.8 $155.2 $167.4 $175.8
Restricted Expendable (1) $275.7 $325.4 $329.8 $347.1 $501.0
Unrestricted -$1,469.3 -$1,465.8 -$1,380.0 -$1,352.0 -$1,252.6
Total Net Position $349.1 $444.6 $617.5 $747.7 $1,061.5
Contributions
Noncapital Contributions $78.5 $77.6 $81.5 $80.0 $100.4
Capital Contributions $8.5 $22.0 $61.2 $86.0 $106.8
Contracts & Grants
Federal Contracts and Grants $164.5 $165.1 $169.2 $171.9 $180.4
State and Local Contracts and Grants $38.7 $40.3 $48.6 $46.6 $53.5
Nongovernmental Contracts and Grants $85.1 $88.7 $95.8 $91.1 $94.2
Total Contracts and Grants $288.3 $294.1 $313.6 $309.6 $328.1
Appropriations and Tuition and Fees
Federal Appropriations $22.6 $21.6 $28.2 $25.2 $23.0
State Appropriations for Operations $506.4 $515.4 $522.5 $522.9 $520.6
State Appropriations for Capital Projects $6.1 $8.5 $4.7 $0.9 $7.7
Tuition and Fees (Gross) $404.9 $432.3 $451.8 $461.2 $438.5
Foundation Support $68.2 $70.0 $80.9 $106.1 $134.9
Endowment Investments $311.5 $349.4 $372.8 $379.6 $522.7
Investment Fund Return 11.9% 11.6% 7.3% 2.1% 39.3%
Capital Assets
Total University Capital Assets $3,024.1 $3,135.7 $3,276.0 $3,437.7 $3,561.6
Total University Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation $2,021.7 $2,054.3 $2,119.3 $2,192.5 $2,221.7
University Debt
Short-term Debt $5.1 $20.1 $25.1 $50.0 $0.0
Bonds Payable $519.4 $500.0 $478.4 $458.7 $532.4
Notes Payable $68.8 $65.2 $61.2 $56.7 $51.7
Estimated Expenses for Full-Time Students Living on Campus - N.C.
Residents (dollars are in whole numbers)
Tuition and Fees $8,880 $9,058 $9,100 $9,100 $9,100
Books and Supplies $1,082 $1,082 $1,082 $1,082 $1,082
Room Rent (Average) $6,560 $6,618 $6,714 $6,714 $6,768
Meals (Average) $4,075 $4,236 $4,364 $4,645 $4,833
Other Personal Expenses $1,508 $1,556 $1,576 $1,576 $1,608
Transportation $894 $1,088 $1,100 $1,100 $1,122
Total $22,999 $23,638 $23,936 $24,217 $24,513

1. Sources for funding Restricted Expendable Net Assets include gifts, contracts and grants, unexpended capital appropriations, endowment income,
unexpended debt proceeds, required reserves, and loan funds.
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES

As of June 30, 2021

Thomas Cabaniss, Robert Andrews llI, Ann B. Goodnight, James A. Harrell lll, David Dee Herring,
Richmond, VA Raleigh, NC Cary, NC Raleigh, NC Lillington, NC
Chair

Timothy L. Stanhope A. Kelly, General Raymond Ven Poole, Perry Safran,
Humphrey, Winston-Salem, NC T Odierno Raleigh, NC Raleigh, NC
Raleigh, NC ) '

Pinehurst, NC

Edwin J. Stack Ill, Dewayne N. Edward |. Wesiger, McKenzy Heavlin,
Morehead City NC Washington, Jr, Student Bod
Wake Forest, NC Charlotte, NC President v
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EXECUTIVE AND
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICERS

As of June 30, 2021

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

W. Randolph Woodson Marc 1. Hoit Miladen Vouk

Chancellor Vice Chancellor for Information Vice Chancellor for Research,
Technology Innovation, and Economic Development

Warwick Arden Brian C. Sischo Doneka Scott

Provost and Executive Vice Vice Chancellor for University Vice Chancellor and Dean for the

Chancellor Advancement Division of Academic and Student

Affairs
Boo Corrigan Charles Maimone Paula Gentius
Director of Athletics Vice Chancellor for Finance and Secretary of the University

Administration

Allison Newhart

Vice Chancellor and General

Counsel
Richard Linton Peter Harries Christine McGahan
Dean of College of Agriculture Dean of Graduate School Dean of College of Sciences

and Life Sciences

Mark Hoversten Jeffrey P. Braden David Hinks

Dean of College of Design Dean of College of Humanities Dean of Wilson College of Textiles
and Social Sciences

Mary Ann Danowitz Frank Buckless Doneka Scott
Dean of College of Education Dean of Poole College of Vice Chancellor and Dean for the
Management Division of Academic and Student
Affairs
Louis Martin-Vega Mary Watzin D. Paul Lunn
Dean of College of Engineering Dean of College of Natural Dean of College of Veterinary Medicine
Resources
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

Office of the State uditor

2 S. Salisbury Street
20601 Mail Service Center
Raleigh, NC 27699-0601
Telephone: (919) 807-7500
Fax: (919) 807-7647
http://www.auditor.nc.gov

State Auditor

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Board of Trustees
North Carolina State University
Raleigh, North Carolina

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and fiduciary activities
of North Carolina State University (University), a constituent institution of the multi-campus
University of North Carolina System, which is a component unit of the State of North Carolina,
and its discretely presented component units, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the accompanying
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of
the business-type activities and fiduciary activities of North Carolina State University, and its
discretely presented component units, as of June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We did not audit the financial statements of the NC State Investment Fund, Inc,,
which represent 21 percent and 10 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the
business-type activities, and 92 percent and 74 percent, respectively, of the assets and
revenues of the fiduciary activities; nor the financial statements of the North Carolina
State University Foundation, Inc. or The North Carolina Agricultural Foundation, Inc., the
University’s discretely presented component units. Those financial statements were audited
by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us, and our opinions,
insofar as they relate to the amounts included for those entities, are based solely on the
reports of the other auditors.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits

contained in Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS), issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are required to be independent of North Carolina State University and to meet
our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 21 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2021,
North Carolina State University adopted new accounting guidance, Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, as amended by GASB
Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Reporting for Internal
Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans. Our opinions are not modified with
respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

The University’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
University’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial
statements are issued.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and GAGAS, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

¢ Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the University’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain
internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and other required supplementary information, as
listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements,
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other
information comprises the introductory and supplementary information sections but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the financial
statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express on opinion or any form
of assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between
the other information and the financial statements, or other information otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected
material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our
report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
November 11, 2021 on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. The report on internal control
and compliance has been issued under a separate cover in the Financial Statement
Audit Report of North Carolina State University published by this office.

odon! A v

Beth A. Wood, CPA
State Auditor

Raleigh, North Carolina

November 11, 2021
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NORTH CAROLINA
STATE UNIVERSITY

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Introduction

Management's Discussion and Analysis of the financial report provides an overview of the accompanying basic financial
statements. It includes a comparative financial analysis with a discussion of significant changes from the prior year. The
overview also includes information on currently known facts, decisions, or conditions affecting the financial affairs of the
North Carolina State University (University).

Financial Highlights

The University’'s net position increased by $313.9 million to $1.06 billion in fiscal year 2021. The net position represents
the University's equity. It is the residual of all the other elements of the statement of financial position, the assets and
deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.

Revenues increased by $97.0 million or 5.9% to $1.75 billion in fiscal year 2021. Revenues represent amounts received
or accrued that are either operating or nonoperating on the accompanying financial statements. The coronavirus pan-
demic (COVID-19) significantly impacted revenue, especially in the areas of auxiliaries. See Note 18 for more infor-
mation related to the impact of COVID-19. Substantial increases in investment earnings due to market returns and in-
creased contributions were partially offset by significant decreases in sales and services due to continued impacts of
COVID-19.

Expenses decreased 4.0% in 2021, down $65.6 million over fiscal year 2020 expenses. Expenses represent amounts
paid or accrued for operating or nonoperating purposes. The largest decreases were in Auxiliaries and Public Services
caused by the continuing impacts of COVID-19.

Using the Financial Statements

The University’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as pre-
scribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), which establishes standards for external financial
reporting for public colleges and universities. The University presents two sets of fund financial statements 1) proprie-
tary fund financial statements, which account for the University’s primary activities, and 2) fiduciary fund financial state-
ments, which account for the University's custodial funds. See note 1J for additional information regarding the Universi-
ty’s fiduciary activities. Management's discussion and analysis concentrate on the University's Statement of Net Posi-
tion and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position as condensed comparative financial infor-
mation is not required for fiduciary activities.

The University is a constituent institution of the multi-campus University of North Carolina System, which is a compo-
nent unit of the State of North Carolina and an integral part of the State's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. The
University blends two component units as if they were part of the University, and two entities are reported as discretely
presented component units based on the nature and significance of their relationship to the University. Note 1A pro-
vides detailed information on the University’s financial reporting entity.

The University's three financial statements are used to evaluate the financial position as of June 30" and the results of
operations for the fiscal year then ended. The Statement of Net Position provides information relative to the evaluation
of the financial position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position provides information rela-
tive to the evaluation of the results of operations. Its ending net position agrees to the total net position on the State-
ment of Net Position.

The financial statements also include a Statement of Cash Flows. This statement is used to identify the University's
sources and uses of cash. The ending cash on the Statement of Cash Flows agrees to the total cash reported on the
Statement of Net Position. Also, this statement reconciles the net operating loss reported in the Statement of Reve-
nues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position to the net cash used by operating activities.

In using the financial statements, the Notes to the Financial Statements accompanying the financial statements should
be read in conjunction with the financial statements. The notes provide information regarding the significant accounting
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principles applied in the financial statements, authority for and associated risk of deposits and investments, detailed in-
formation on long-term liabilities, detailed information on accounts receivable, accounts payable, revenues and expens-
es, required information on pension plans and other postemployment benefits, insurance against losses, commitments
and contingencies, and accounting changes. If necessary, the disclosures include a discussion of adjustments to prior
periods and events subsequent to the University's financial statement period. Overall, these disclosures provide infor-
mation to better understand details, risk, and uncertainty associated with amounts reported in the financial statements.

Comparative Condensed Financial Statement Information
Statement of Net Position

The Statement of Net Position provides information regarding the University's assets, deferred outflows and inflows of
resources, liabilities, and net position as of June 30, 2021. Asset and liability balances are classified as either current or
noncurrent. Assets classified as current are those that are available to pay current liabilities or current year expenditures.
Liabilities classified as current are those that are due and payable in the next fiscal year. The net position balances are
classified as either net investment in capital assets, restricted or unrestricted. In addition, net position balances classi-
fied as restricted are classified as either nonexpendable or expendable. Overall, the Statement of Net Position provides
information to evaluate the financial strength of the University and its ability to meet current and long-term obligations.

Following is a comparative analysis on the condensed balances reported in the Statement of Net Position as of June 30,
2021 and restated as of June 30, 2020.

2021 Restated 2020 (1) Changes
Assets
Current Assets $ 487,814,497  $ 476,358,676  $ 11,455,821
Capital Assets, Net 2,221,660,007 2,192,499,078 29,160,929
Other Noncurrent Assets 868,101,606 649,076,953 219,024,653
Total Assets 3,577,576,110 3,317,934,707 259,641,403
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Outflows Related to Asset Retirement Obligations 13,406,266 13,233,188 173,078
Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions 107,473,251 97,915,354 9,557,897
Deferred Outflows Related to OPEB 181,920,238 209,717,948 (27,797,710
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 302,799,755 320,866,490 (18,066,735)
Liabilities
Current Liabilities 173,709,019 222,352,053 (48,643,034)
Noncurrent Liabiliies
Long-Term Liabiliies 2,023,232,801 2,064,541,181 (41,308,380)
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 77,329,217 78,942,819 (1,613,602)
Total Liabiliies 2,274,271,037 2,365,836,053 (91,565,016)
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions 0 469,260 (469,260)
Deferred Inflows Related to OPEB 544,559,203 524,814,028 19,745,175
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 544,559,203 525,283,288 19,275,915
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 1,637,378,907 1,585,204,046 52,174,861
Restricted
Nonexpendable 175,778,621 167,457,853 8,320,768
Expendable 500,964,624 347,050,005 153,914,619
Unrestricted (1,252,576,527) (1,352,030,048) 99,453,521
Total Net Position $ 1,061,545625 $ 747,681,856 $ 313,863,769

(1) Restatement - The University restated certain amounts on the 2020 condensed Statement of Net Position due to the implementation of GASB Statement 84, Fiduciary
Activities (see Note 22, Net Position Restatements).
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The following graph illustrates the assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows and net position of the Universi-
ty as of June 30, 2021 as compared to restated June 30, 2020 balances (in thousands).

Current Assets
Capital Assets, Net
Other Noncurrent Assets and Deferred Outflows

Current Liabilities

Moncurrent Liabilities and Deferred Inflows
MNet Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted Nonexpendable

Restricted Expendable

Unrestricted

{1.600,000) (1,200000) (800,000)  (40.000) - 400,000 800,000 1200000 1600000 2000000 2400000 2800000 2200000

u2021 m2020

Thousands

Assets totaled $3.58 billion, an increase of $259.6 million over the prior year as restated. This change in assets includes
an increase in current assets of $11.5 million, an overall increase in net capital assets of $29.2 million and an increase in
other noncurrent assets of $219.0 million.

Current assets increased by $11.5 million in fiscal year 2021. Restricted cash and cash equivalents increased $28.6 mil-
lion mainly due to issuance of new debt for capital projects and increases in contracts and grants overhead. Cash and
cash equivalents decreased $27.6 million due to an investment of funds into the Intermediate Term Fund, which was
offset by increases in Auxiliary cash related to lowering capital expenditures and increasing contingency reserves. Re-
ceivables increased $6.5 million due to increases in non-student accounts receivables and contract and grant receiva-
bles. Due from primary government and due from the state of North Carolina component units increased $4.7 million,
collectively. This increase is primarily because of a receivable for insurance proceeds from Department of Insurance on
a recovery of an impaired asset and increases in the grant received directly from Golden LEAF.

The increase in net capital assets of $29.2 million is due largely to Fitts-Woolard Hall and the Carmichael Addition Pro-
ject being completed as well as continued construction on the Plant Sciences Building. See the capital assets section
below for more details.

The $219.0 million increase in other noncurrent assets is made up of increases in noncurrent restricted cash, endow-
ment investments and other investments. Noncurrent restricted cash increased $36.1 million primarily due to increases
in capital improvements allotments and legislative restrictions placed on cash carryforward. Endowment investments
increased $143.1 million primarily due to market increases in the long-term investment fund. Other investments in-
creased $41.0 million primarily due to increased rate of returns.

The deferred outflows of resources for the University's asset retirement obligations, the deferred outflows for pensions
and deferred outflows for OPEB are shown in a separate section of the financial statements. GASB Statement No. 63,
Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, which was
implemented in fiscal year 2013, established deferred sections of the financial statements. The deferred outflow for the
asset retirement obligation is the University's obligation and cost to retire the nuclear reactor on campus. The deferred
outflows for pensions and OPEB accounts reflect the University's allocated portion of deferred outflows for the TSERS
cost-sharing pension plan and the State’s OPEB plans. Amounts in these accounts are amortized over time as pension
and OPEB expenses. Deferred outflows of resources decreased $18.1 million in current year primarily relating to pen-
sion and OPEB. The $27.8 million decrease in the deferred outflows of OPEB and the $9.6 million increase in deferred
outflows of pensions are due to changes in the pension and OPEB contributions and the University’s proportionate
share of contributions to the plans.

Liabilities totaled $2.27 billion, a decrease of $91.6 million over the prior year as restated for GASB Statement No. 84,

Fiduciary Activities. The decrease in liabilities is attributable to a decrease in current liabilities of $48.6 million and a de-
crease in noncurrent liabilities of $42.9 million.
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Current liabilities totaled $173.7 million. These liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, payables to oth-
er entities, unearned revenue, interest payable and the current portion of University debt. Current liabilities decreased
by $48.6 million, primarily caused by decreases in short term debt of $50.0 million due to refunding commercial paper
using proceeds from the new bond issuance. Unearned revenue increased $8.4 million primarily due to the timing of
contract and grants projects. This was offset by a decrease in accounts payable of $9.9 million primarily due to decreas-
es in capital improvements with the completion of Fitts-Woolard Hall and Carmichael Addition Project. The current por-
tion of long-term liabilities increased $3.4 million mainly due to bond issuance.

Noncurrent liabilities totaled $2.10 billion, and include deposits payable, funds held for other entities, unearned revenue,
and long-term liabilities. The primary factor in the $42.9 million decrease in noncurrent liabilities was long-term liabilities.
Long-term liabilities decreased primarily due to an decrease in net OPEB liability of $145.8 million and an increase in the
net pension liability for the Teachers’ and State Employees’ Retirement System (TSERS) plan of $39.6 million which
was the result of the difference between the projected and actual investment earnings in both plans. Revenue bonds
increased $73.7 million because of bond issuance and notes from direct borrowings decreased $5.0 million due to annu-
al payments.

Deferred inflows for OPEB, are required by the implementation of GASB 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) and are shown in a separate section in the financial statements.
This $544.6 million deferred inflows of resources is another allocation of OPEB plan balances. The $19.3 million in-
crease in deferred inflows is driven by higher OPEB liabilities related to the difference between projected and actual
investment earnings. These deferred inflows for OPEB are amortized over time as OPEB expense.

Net position totaled $1.06 billion, an increase of $313.9 million over the prior year. The negative unrestricted net posi-
tion balance decreased by $99.5 million mainly due to fluctuations in Pension and OPEB reporting. Net investment in
capital assets increased $52.2 million due to increases in capital projects. Restricted nonexpendable net position in-
creased $8.3 million driven mainly by the increase in gifts for professorships and the State matching for professorships.
Restricted expendable net position increased $153.9 million, driven mainly by increases in investment returns as well as
an increase in funds restricted for capital projects due to the construction of several large projects during the year.

As reported in Note 11 Net Position, the total impact from reporting the Retiree Health Benefit Fund (RHBF) as well as
the pension plan obligations at June 30, 2021 was a negative $1.61 billion. The difference between the net effect
amount reported in Note 11 and the unrestricted net position reported on financial statements (a negative $1.25 billion)
is a positive $361.2 million. This positive difference represents unrestricted funds held by the University in its institution-
al trust, special, debt, and investment funds, as well as any unrestricted funds held by the University’s blended compo-
nent units.

The University's current assets are more than sufficient to cover current liabilities, with a ratio of 2.8 times compared to
2.1 times in the prior year. The University's total assets are more than the University’'s liabilities with a ratio 1.6 times as
compared to 1.4 times in the prior year. These financial ratios are indicators of the University’s financial strength and its
ability to meet current and long-term obligations.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position provides information regarding the University's
activities for the year ending June 30, 2021. The activity balances are classified as operating, nonoperating, or other rev-
enues, expense, gains or losses. Activities classified as operating include all revenues of the University except those
considered nonoperating, or those associated with funds received to enhance capital assets or permanent endow-
ments. Operating expenses are all expenses except those related to interest expense on financing activities, loss on
disposal of capital assets, and investment expenses (shown as net against investment income). Activities classified as
nonoperating include state appropriations, noncapital contributions, investment income (net of investment expenses),
and gains or losses on disposal of capital assets. Activities classified as other include capital appropriations, capital con-
tributions and additions to permanent endowments. Overall, the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in
Net Position provides information to evaluate the University’s management of operations and maintenance of financial
strength.
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Following is a comparative analysis on the condensed balances reported in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Net Position for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, and June 30, 2020.

2021 2020 Changes
Operating Revenues
Student Tuition and Fees, Net $ 329,081,529 $ 356,776,551  $ (27,695,022)
Federal Appropriations 23,020,618 25,194,404 (2,173,786)
Grants and Contracts 328,058,661 309,604,381 18,454,280
Sales and Services, Net 179,038,888 249,151,047 (70,112,159)
Other, Net 19,478,322 18,774,879 703,443
Total Operating Revenues 878,678,018 959,501,262 (80,823,244)
Operating Expenses
Salaries and Benefits 953,216,704 995,783,702 (42,566,998)
Supplies and Services 369,660,959 397,007,015 (27,346,056)
Scholarships and Fellowships 69,942,018 69,261,379 680,639
Utiliies 29,188,289 30,466,634 (1,278,345)
Depreciation/Amortization 114,947,438 107,917,072 7,030,366
Total Operating Expenses 1,536,955,408 1,600,435,802 (63,480,394)
Operating Loss (658,277,390) (640,934,540) (17,342,850
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
State Appropriations 520,557,104 522,902,154 (2,345,050)
Student Financial Aid 51,538,568 51,177,545 361,023
Other Noncapital Aid and Contributions 134,366,272 89,476,649 44,889,623
Investment Income 161,240,750 20,020,661 141,220,089
Other (18,446,972 (14,210,012 (4,236,960)
Net Nonoperating Revenues 849,255,722 669,366,997 179,888,725
Income Before Other Revenue 190,978,332 28,432,457 162,545,875
Capital Appropriations and Contributions 114,552,893 86,874,221 27,678,672
Additions to Permanent Endowments 8,332,544 14,864,091 (6,531,547)
Increase in Net Position 313,863,769 130,170,769 183,693,000
Beginning Net Position 747,681,856 617,511,087 130,170,769
Ending Net Position $ 1,061,545,625 $ 747,681,856  $ 313,863,769

Fiscal Year 2020-2021 total revenues are $1,869,266,149 and total ex penses are $1,555,402,380.
Fiscal Year 2019-2020 total revenues are $1,751,163,654 and total ex penses are $1,620,992,885.
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Operating and Nonoperating Activities

The following illustrates the relationships of operating and nonoperating revenue sources and expense functions to total
revenues/expenses for the fiscal year 2021 and 2020, and the consistency of relationships between the two years.

OPERATING AND NONOPERATING

REVENUES
% to Total % to Total
Title 2021 2020
State Appropriations 29% 32%
Research Contracts and Grants 19% 19%
Student Tuition and Fees 19% 22%
Sales and Services 10% 15%
Noncapital Grants and Gifts 11% 8%
Federal Appropriations 1% 1%
Other 11% 3%
Total 100% 100%

OPERATING AND NONOPERATING

EXPENSES
% to Total % to Total
Title 2021 2020

Instruction 31% 30%
Research 19% 18%
Public Service 8% 8%
Auxiliary Enterprises 9% 11%
Operations & Maintenance of Plant 5% 5%
Academic Support 6% 6%
Instituional Support % %
Depreciation/Amortization 7% 7%
Student Financial Aid 5% 5%
Student Services 2% 2%
Other 1% 1%
Total 100% 100%
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The following graphs illustrate the University’s operating and nonoperating revenues/expenses by source/function (in

thousands).
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Total revenues (operating, nonoperating, and other) increased $118.1 million or 6.7% compared to the prior year. Op-
erating revenue decreased $80.8 million mainly due to decreases in sales and services of $70.1 million and tuition and
fees of $27.7 million due to fewer students on campus because of the COVID-19 impact. Research contracts and
grants increased by $18.5 million, primarily due to increases in grants in the College of Agriculture and Life Sciences,
College of Veterinary Medicine and College of Engineering. Nonoperating revenue increased $177.8 million. This is
primarily due to a $141.2 million increase in investment income due to rising market rates as well as an increase to
noncapital contributions of $20.3 million and increases of $24.5 million of state aid and federal aid related to COVID-
19. Other revenue increased $21.1 million mainly due to increases in capital contributions of $20.8 million relating to
the Plant Sciences Building and other capital projects, increases in capital appropriations of $6.8 million due to state
legislature imposing restrictions on cash carryforward, and decreases in additions to endowments of $6.5 million.

Total expenses (operating and nonoperating) decreased $65.6 million or 4.0% compared to the prior year. Salaries and
benefits decreased $42.6 million mainly due to decreases in pension and OPEB expenses as well as decreases in
SHRA regular pay and temporary student and non student employees due to furloughs as a result of COVID-19. Sup-
plies and services decreased $27.3 million driven by decreases in auxiliaries and public service due to COVID-19 shut-
down.

Capital Assets and Long-Term Debt Activities

Capital Assets

As shown in the following table, the University increased its net capital assets by $29.2 million during fiscal year 2021.

2021 2020 Changes
Land and Permanent Easements 3 78,542,761 $ 78,542,761 $ 0
Construction in Progress 122,538,600 216,068,020 (93,529,420)
Computer Software in Development 712,726 545,042 167,684
Buildings 2,610,874,414 2,423,773,093 187,101,321
Machinery and Equipment 449,495,349 433,703,642 15,791,707
General Infrastructure 261,249,232 250,178,267 11,070,965
Computer Software 38,176,504 34,854,345 3,322,159
Total Capital Assets 3,561,589,586 3,437,665,170 123,924,416
Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization (1,339,929,579) (1,245,166,092) (94,763,487)
Net Capital Assets $ 2,221,660,007 $ 2,192,499,078 $ 29,160,929

During fiscal year 2021, the University continued construction on new facilities and work on renovations to modernize
campus. Funding for these improvements came from funds provided by University debt financing and other capital
funding from the state of North Carolina.

In addition to costs incurred, the University had $78,833,512 million in outstanding commitments for construction as
of June 30, 2021.

Construction of Fitts-Woolard Hall, a new building that will house the Department of Civil, Construction, and Environ-
mental Engineering, completed during fiscal year 2021. This addition will serve a critical need for the College of Engi-
neering as it continues to grow to meet the demand of students and top companies attracted to North Carolina’s high-
ly skilled workforce.
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The new Wellness and Recreation Center (Carmichael Addition Project) opened in the 2021 fiscal year. The Wellness
and Recreation Center helps meet the needs of an evolving campus, and contributes to better overall health and well-
ness for the campus community. At more than 82,000 square feet, the new facility includes functional training areas,
fitness center space, a rock wall, and dozens of multipurpose areas, and a teaching kitchen and meeting space. The
Wellness and Recreation Center along with the original Carmichael Gym sees more than 1.12 million visits annually.

A complete renovation and restoration of the Memorial Bell Tower was completed in the 2021 fiscal year. The Memorial
Bell Tower was originally built to pay tribute to those who fell in past conflict, but has grown to be a symbol of inspira-
tion to the University community. The recent renovation included the installation of a 55-bell carillon in place of old
speakers. Additional updates included updating and repairing the exterior, reworking the clockworks with digital compo-
nents and data fiber, and improving site drainage.

A 6,500 square foot expansion to Centennial Campus Substation was completed in the fiscal year. The expansion hous-
es sophisticated combined heat and power equipment to meet the needs of ongoing campus growth. The central func-
tion of this utility plant is the operation of a 5.7MW combustion turbine generator, which functions include both steam
generation and heat recovery to power a steam generator, which will provide power to chillers and for other internal
load requirements.

Several large infrastructure projects also completed during the 2021 fiscal year. Projects included conversions of exteri-

or lighting to LED as a part of ongoing campus energy efficiency initiatives and an upgrade to the Central Campus elec-

trical system designed to reduce operational risk, enhance reliability, and improve safety, and position campus for future
growth by increasing electrical capacity by more than 50 percent.

Long-Term Debt Activities

The University incurs long-term debt to finance construction projects and to purchase or lease equipment. As shown in
the following table, the University increased its long-term debt during fiscal year 2021.

2021 2020 Changes
Revenue Bonds $ 532,398,813 $ 458,738,438 $ 73,660,375
Notes from Direct Borrowings 51,718,686 56,706,394 (4,987,708)
Capital Leases Payable 434,004 196,456 237,548
Total Long-term Debt $ 584,551,503 $ 515,641,288 $ 68,910,215

Long-term debt increased $68.9 million, driven by $73.6 million increase in revenue bonds relating to bond issu-
ance and $5.0 million decrease in notes from direct borrowings due to regular principal payments.

Economic Factors That Will Affect the Future

As it has for the rest of the nation, the COVID-19 Pandemic touched North Carolina’s economy, with an impact
for the University across three fiscal years—2020, 2021, and 2022. While certain employment sectors have re-
covered from their COVID-19 lows, and others such as the hospitality industry continue to lag, the statewide un-
employment rate of 13.5% in April 2020 was substantially lower at 4.4% in July 2021. Other measures of eco-
nomic activity tied to the state’s reopening are also increasing, along with significant population growth in the
state’s urban centers.

Despite the good economic news, a protracted negotiation process in the North Carolina legislature for both fis-
cal 2020 and 2021 led to the University of North Carolina System running on a continuing budget resolution with
support in fiscal 2021 roughly equal to prior years. The lack of budget growth tied to frozen spending levels,
combined with good tax collections, and high levels of federal aid to the state have allowed the state’s rainy day
fund to remain high going into the fiscal years 2022-2023 budget negotiation process As of this writing, both the
North Carolina State Senate and the House have agreed on spending targets, but budget negotiations are contin-
uing and there is not yet a budget for the Governor's signature.
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For fall semester 2021, as of August 16, the University enrolled 36,978 students including a small number of certificate
and non-degree seeking students. Of the 34,563 students in fall 2021 who were degree seeking, approximately 28%
were graduate and professional students, and the rest were undergraduates. The COVID-19 Pandemic led to a loss of
graduate and international student enrollment for fall 2020, but the university saw a recovery with a 4.9% increase back
to normalized levels for fall 2021. For the fall semester 2021, the incoming first year class of 5,011 students set an insti-
tutional record. Despite the Pandemic and its impact on the economic circumstances of Americans, both first year re-
tention and graduation rates have held up thus far with no deterioration in student success rates. The University reo-
pened for the fall semester 2021 with a significant majority of undergraduate classes being in person.

The University enjoys a diversified base of revenues, comprised of five major sources; these include tuition and fees,
state appropriations, grants and contracts, gifts and endowment income, and sales and services. While sales and ser-
vices revenue decreased due to the Pandemic in both fiscal years 2020 and 2021, the return of students to campus for
the fiscal year 2022 fall semester led to a projected recovery of these on-campus revenue sources in fiscal 2022. The
University received and expended a significant portion of the federal Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund (HEERF)
grant on its on-campus testing program for students, faculty, and staff.

The UNC System remains committed to affordability and access, and the University's low student charges continue to
result in a consistent rating as one of the nation’s best values in higher education. The University implemented a Fixed
Tuition Program as required by North Carolina General Statute 8 116-143.9. Beginning with the fall semester 2016, tui-
tion rates at UNC institutions were fixed for eight consecutive semesters for all resident bachelor’s degree-seeking
freshmen. Other mandatory fees are subject to a cap on increases, and campuses have been encouraged to think about
keeping total rates, fees, and charges as low as possible.

The State of North Carolina continues to provide significant operational support in the form of annual state appropria-
tions, and one-time and recurring capital support, to the University. State appropriations for operations were $521 mil-
lion in fiscal year 2021, and there is some indication that the nominal amount for general fund support could increase for
the next biennium. The University is completing two major projects partially funded by the State’s Connect NC Bond
program. One is the fourth engineering building on Centennial Campus, Fitts-Woolard Hall, and the other is the trans-
formational Plant Sciences Building. Together, they account for approximately $300 million of new construction activity
on Centennial Campus. The state has also committed partial funding for a $160 million Integrative Sciences Building on
main campus. Funding for other new projects and money for repairs and renovations are pending the identification of
funds and completion of a budget for the current biennium.

The University is a research powerhouse and our faculty continue to receive an increasing number of awards every
year. In the ten-year period from fiscal year 2011 to fiscal year 2020, our annual expenditures grew from $381 million to
$546 million. The University ranks #8 in research funding among universities without a medical school. It consistently
ranks in the top five institutions (without a medical school) by number of start-ups launched, licensing agreements, and
disclosures. The growth of the Triangle with new tech firms relocating or expanding every year, suggests that historic
commercialization activity in partnership with private industry will only continue to grow.

The University is nearing completion on a major capital campaign with an aspiration goal of $2 billion. While the cam-
paign officially ends in December 2021, the University met its aspirational goal by May 2021. In this environment, gifts
and endowment cannot make up the difference between revenue lost and the costs of providing education in an envi-
ronment marked by higher inflation, but these other resources will help to make the future more promising since so
much of the support is directed to student financial aid, professorships, and programs that will enhance the University’s
future. As the University's total endowment grew to $1.95 billion for fiscal year 2021, annual endowment support also
grew to an institutional high of $55 million for fiscal year 2022, and our five-year moving average formula in calculating
spending provides some stability for future years.

Fiscal year 2021-2022 is the base year of the University's new strategic plan, “Wolfpack 2030: Powering the Extraordi-
nary.” Information about the goals can be found at https://strategicplan.ncsu.edu/current-plan/.
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North Carolina State University
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund Exhibit A-1
June 30, 2021 Page 1 of 2
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 192,959,747
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 177,157,763
Receivables, Net (Note 5) 88,733,927
Due from Primary Government 11,552,153
Due from State of North Carolina Component Units 4,445,841
Due from University Component Units 3,674,050
Inventories 6,777,945
Notes Receivable, Net (Note 5) 2,513,071
Total Current Assets 487,814,497

Noncurrent Assets:

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 163,699,584
Endowment Investments 522,702,478
Other Investments 176,462,653
Notes Receivable, Net (Note 5) 3,290,511
Net Other Postemployment Benefits Asset 1,946,380
Capital Assets - Nondepreciable (Note 6) 201,794,087
Capital Assets - Depreciable, Net (Note 6) 2,019,865,920
Total Noncurrent Assets 3,089,761,613
Total Assets 3,5677,576,110

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Outflows Related to Asset Retirement Obligations 13,406,266
Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions (Note 14) 107,473,251
Deferred Outflows Related to Other Postemployment Benefits (Note 15) 181,920,238

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 302,799,755

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (Note 7) 54,588,586
Due to Primary Government 10,877,880
Due to State of North Carolina Component Units 1,048,701
Unearned Revenue 70,572,287
Interest Payable 4,332,744
Long-Term Liabilities - Current Portion (Note 9) 32,288,821
Total Current Liabilities 173,709,019
Noncurrent Liabilities:

Deposits Payable 5,283,431
Funds Held for Others 2,991,634
Unearned Revenue 67,443,587
U.S. Government Grants Refundable 1,610,565
Long-Term Liabilities, Net (Note 9) 2,023,232,801
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 2,100,562,018
Total Liabilities 2,274,271,037

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred Inflows Related to Other Postemployment Benefits (Note 15) 544,559,203

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 544,559,203
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North Carolina State University
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund Exhibit A-1
June 30, 2021 Page 2 of 2
NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 1,637,378,907
Restricted:
Nonexpendable 175,778,621
Expendable 500,964,624
Unrestricted (1,252,576,527)

Total Net Position

$ 1,061,545,625

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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North Carolina State University

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 Exhibit A-2
OPERATING REVENUES
Student Tuition and Fees, Net (Note 12) 329,081,529
Federal Appropriations 23,020,618
Federal Grants and Contracts 180,385,371
State and Local Grants and Contracts 53,515,965
Nongovernmental Grants and Contracts 94,157,325
Sales and Services, Net (Note 12) 179,038,888
Interest Earnings on Loans 219,262
Other Operating Revenues, Net (Note 12) 19,259,060
Total Operating Revenues 878,678,018
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits 953,216,704
Supplies and Services 369,660,959
Scholarships and Fellowships 69,942,018
Utilities 29,188,289
Depreciation/Amortization 114,947,438

Total Operating Expenses

1,536,955,408

Operating Loss (658,277,390)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
State Appropriations 520,557,104
State Aid - Coronavirus 7,637,627
Student Financial Aid 51,538,568
Federal Aid - COVID-19 26,363,450
Noncapital Contributions 100,365,195
Investment Income (Net of Investment Expense of $2,198,177) 161,240,750
Interest and Fees on Debt (18,133,723)
Other Nonoperating Expenses (313,249)
Net Nonoperating Revenues 849,255,722
Income Before Other Revenues 190,978,332
Capital Appropriations 7,740,538
Capital Contributions 106,812,355
Additions to Endowments 8,332,544
Total Other Revenues 122,885,437
Increase in Net Position 313,863,769

NET POSITION

Net Position - July 1, 2020 747,681,856
Net Position - June 30, 2021 $ 1,061,645,625

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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North Carolina State University
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

Exhibit A-3
Page 1 of 2

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Received from Customers

Payments to Employees and Fringe Benefits
Payments to Vendors and Suppliers
Payments for Scholarships and Fellowships
Loans Issued

Collection of Loans

Interest Earned on Loans

William D. Ford Direct Lending Receipts
William D. Ford Direct Lending Disbursements
Related Activity Agency Receipts

Related Activity Agency Disbursements
Other Receipts

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

State Appropriations
State Aid - Coronavirus
Student Financial Aid
Federal Aid - COVID-19
Noncapital Contributions
Additions to Endowments

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL FINANCING AND RELATED

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from Capital Debt

Capital Appropriations

Capital Contributions

Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets

Proceeds from Insurance on Capital Assets
Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets
Principal Paid on Capital Debt and Leases

Interest and Fees Paid on Capital Debt and Leases
Payment to Bond Escrow Agent

Net Cash Used by Capital Financing and Related Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Sales and Maturities of Investments
Investment Income

Purchase of Investments and Related Fees

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents - July 1, 2020, as Restated (Note 22)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - June 30, 2021

$ 857,701,107
(1,003,466,446)
(399,036,694)
(69,942,018)
(70,880)
1,806,492
228,775
110,750,946
(109,281,067)
50,118,885
(49,807,314)
21,438,595

(589,559,619)

520,557,104
7,637,627
51,538,568
26,363,450
78,638,160
8,332,544

693,067,453

285,558,218
7,740,538
104,262,474
447,803
531,938
(155,550,121)
(75,194,249)
(18,317,419)
(192,982,644)

(43,503,462)

24,905,363
4,531,903
(52,321,105)

(22,883,839)

37,120,533

496,696,561

$ 533,817,094
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North Carolina State University
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

Exhibit A-3
Page 2 of 2

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO

NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Loss
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss to Net Cash Used
by Operating Activities:
Depreciation/Amortization Expense
Other Nonoperating Income
Changes in Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Receivables, Net
Due from Primary Government
Inventories
Notes Receivable, Net
Net Other Postemployment Benefits Asset
Deferred Outflows Related to Asset Retirement Obligations
Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions
Deferred Outflows Related to Other Postemployment Benefits
Changes in Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Due to Primary Government
Due to State of North Carolina Component Units
Funds Held for Others
Unearned Revenue
Net Pension Liability
Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability
Compensated Absences
Deposits Payable
Workers' Compensation Liability
Pollution Remediation Payable
Asset Retirement Obligation
Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions
Deferred Inflows Related to Other Postemployment Benefits

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL, AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Assets Acquired through the Assumption of a Liability

Assets Acquired through a Gift

Change in Fair Value of Investments

Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets

Amortization and Write-off of Bond Premiums

Increase in Receivables Related to Nonoperating/Other Revenues

Decrease in Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability Related to Noncapital Contributions

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$ (658,277,390)

114,947,438
3,712,344

(6,548,905)
(3,174,156)
644,692
1,751,821

(254,607)
(173,078)
(9,557,897)
27,797,710

124,602
386,600
(464,380)
(451,867)
6,873,165
39,649,195
(127,246,945)
(394,456)
2,056,208
(619,332)
(108,571)
492,275
(469,260)
19,745,175

$ (589,559,619)

$ 436,604
2,386,837
147,104,154
(3,450,044)
(18,942,961)
1,654,196
(18,550,749)



North Carolina State University
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds - Custodial Funds

June 30, 2021 Exhibit B-1
External Investment Total Custodial
Pool Funds Other Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 12,369,556 $ 36,637,433 $ 49,006,989
Investments (Note 2):
Intermediate Investments 19,602,214 - 19,602,214
Long-Term Investments 398,756,377 - 398,756,377
Total Assets 430,728,147 36,637,433 467,365,580
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources - - -
LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (Note 7) 213,324 2,214 215,538
Total Liabilities 213,324 2,214 215,638
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - -
NET POSITION
Restricted for:
Pool Participants 430,514,823 - 430,514,823
Individuals/Other Organizations - 36,635,219 36,635,219
Total Net Position $ 430,514,823 $ 36,635,219 $ 467,150,042

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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North Carolina State University

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds - Custodial Funds

June 30, 2021 Exhibit B-2
External
Investment Pool Total Custodial
Funds Other Funds Funds
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Pool Participants $ 47,220,154 - $ 47,220,154
Individuals/Other Organizations - 59,397,060 59,397,060
Total Contributions 47,220,154 59,397,060 106,617,214
Investment Activity:
Investment Income 119,023,046 159,182 119,182,228
Investment Expenses (1,573,032) - (1,573,032)
Net Investment Income 117,450,014 159,182 117,609,196
Total Additions 164,670,168 59,556,242 224,226,410
DEDUCTIONS
Withdrawals and Distributions 15,730,574 71,791,940 87,522,514
Increase (Decrease) in Fiduciary Net Position 148,939,594 (12,235,698) 136,703,896
NET POSITION
Net Position - July 1, 2020, as Restated (Note 22) 281,575,229 48,870,917 330,446,146
Net Position - June 30, 2021 $ 430,514,823 36,635,219 $ 467,150,042

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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North Carolina State University Foundations

Statement of Financial Position

June 30, 2021 Exhibit C-1
North Carolina The North
State Carolina
University Agricultural
Foundation, Foundation,
Inc. Inc.
ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 43,479,983 28,718,844
Intermediate Investments 12,496,122 21,724,314
Long-Term Investments 580,744,189 142,540,682
Assets Held in Charitable Trusts and Annuities 2,206,752 -
Donated Property and Land 3,936,654 32,007,495
Receivables, Net 108,625 3,892,055
Pledges Receivable/Promises 22,675,918 4,769,460
Property and Equipment, Net 5,856,098 40,870
Other Assets 312,677 33,044
Total Assets $ 671,817,018 233,726,764
LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses $ 415,837 3,250
Due to University - 3,802,750
Due to Others 267,196 68,534
Life Income Funds Payable 4,859,634 5,678,005
Deferred Revenue 12,000 183,524
Funds Held for Others 88,075 -
Total Liabilities 5,642,742 9,736,063
NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions 22,837,418 6,012,795
With Donor Restrictions 643,336,858 217,977,906
Total Net Assets 666,174,276 223,990,701
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 671,817,018 233,726,764

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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North Carolina State University Foundations
Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 Exhibit C-2
North Carolina The North
State Carolina
University Agricultural
Foundation, Foundation,
Inc. Inc.
CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Revenues and Gains:
Contributions 22,290 144,875
Donated Services and Salaries 856,000 1,495,000
Net Investment Income 6,504,155 2,447,833
Interest and Dividends 201,273 58,868
Other Income 823,112 -
Net Assets Released from Restrictions: Program or Time Restrictions 27,907,456 34,408,583
Total Revenues and Gains Without Donor Restrictions 36,314,286 38,555,159
Expenses:
Scholarships and Fellowships 8,625,557 2,197,679
University Support 10,369,079 7,687,671
Capital Support 3,167,497 24,418,312
Administrative 624,458 319,600
Fund Raising 6,111,384 1,901,022
Other 722,909 52,765
Total Expenses 29,620,884 36,577,049
Increase in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 6,693,402 1,978,110
CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Contributions 61,412,214 15,795,448
Grant Revenue - 690,958
Change in Pledges Receivables 7,449,291 (809,929)
Donated Property 1,140,304 906,189
Disposal of Other Assets (305,434) 88,592
Net Investment Income 147,477,537 37,611,351
Royalties - 447,227
Change in Value of Split Interest Agreements and Trusts (1,200,875) (1,215,576)
Interest and Dividends 1,220,257 676,764
Other Income 6,101,488 23,679,472
Net Assets Released from Restrictions: Program or Time Restrictions (27,907,456) (34,408,583)
Increase in Net Assets With Donor Restrictions 195,387,326 43,461,913
Increase in Net Assets 202,080,728 45,440,023
Net Assets at Beginning of Year 464,093,548 178,550,678
Net Assets at End of Year 666,174,276 223,990,701

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NoOTE 1 -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A.

Financial Reporting Entity - The concept underlying the definition of the financial reporting
entity is that elected officials are accountable to their constituents for their actions. As required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), the financial
reporting entity includes both the primary government and all of its component units. An
organization other than a primary government serves as a nucleus for a reporting entity when it
issues separate financial statements. North Carolina State University (University) is a constituent
institution of the multi-campus University of North Carolina System, which is a component unit of
the State of North Carolina and an integral part of the State's Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report.

The accompanying financial statements present all funds belonging to the University and its
component units. While the Board of Governors of the University of North Carolina System has
ultimate responsibility, the Chancellor, the Board of Trustees, and the Board of Trustees of the
Endowment Fund have delegated responsibilities for financial accountability of the University's
funds. The University’'s component units are either blended or discretely presented in the
University's financial statements. See below for further discussion of the University's component
units. Other related foundations and similar nonprofit corporations for which the University is not
financially accountable are not part of the accompanying financial statements.

Blended Component Units - Although legally separate, the NC State Investment Fund, Inc.
(Investment Fund) and the NC State University Partnership Corporation (Corporation), component
units of the University, are reported as if they were part of the University.

The Investment Fund is governed by a board consisting of eight ex officio members and eight
elected members. The Investment Fund’s purpose is to support the University by operating an
investment fund for charitable, nonprofit foundations, associations, trusts, endowments, and
funds that are organized and operated primarily to support the University. The Investment Fund is
a governmental external investment pool. Because the elected members of the Investment Fund
are appointed by the members of the North Carolina State University Board of Trustees and the
Investment Fund’s primary purpose is to benefit North Carolina State University, its financial
statements have been blended with those of the University.

The Corporation is governed by a five member Board of Directors appointed based on their
positions held with North Carolina State University. Additional members of the board may be
appointed by the Chancellor of North Carolina State University. The Corporation’s purpose is to
support and benefit the University with the aims of creating new knowledge and improving the
lives of the people of North Carolina. The Corporation formed NC State University Centennial
Development, LLC on January 25, 2002 to construct, own and operate a golf course located on
the North Carolina State University Centennial Campus. In addition, the Corporation formed NC
State Upfit, LLC on October 27, 2006 to develop, construct, own, finance, manage and otherwise
upfit facilities and other infrastructure on Centennial Campus. Also, the Corporation formed NC
State CBC Land I, LLC on June 1, 2007 to acquire, develop, own, lease, hold, manage, sell, and
otherwise exercise all right of ownership of land and flex lab facilities on Centennial Biomedical
Campus. Additionally, the Corporation formed NC State American Home, LLC on August 8, 2007
and changed its name to Bell Tower Holdings LLC on December 14, 2009. The purposes of Bell
Tower Holdings LLC are to acquire, develop, own, lease, hold, manage, sell and otherwise
exercise all right of ownership of real property and enter into any related agreements for assisting
with the acquisition, development, financing, construction, management and operation of real
property. On March 31, 2008 the Corporation formed NC State CC Holdings |, LLC to acquire,
develop, own, lease, hold, manage, sell and otherwise exercise all right of ownership of land and
facilities on Centennial Campus. Leaders in Innovation and Nonwovens Commercialization, LLC
(LINC), was established on July 9, 2012 to foster economic development and creation of new
knowledge by facilitating commercialization of technologies developed at the Nonwovens Institute
at NC State University. On September 27, 2016 the Corporation established the Wolfpack
Investor Network, LLC (WIN) to connect the NC State alumni network with the NC State
entrepreneurial community. C21, LLC was formed on December 21, 2018 to act as an intermediary
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between the University and private parties in connection with certain real estate operations,
execute innovation space management agreements, and procure resources for enhanced
innovation activation and programming. On February 19, 2020, NC State Research, LLC was
formed to manage, operate, host and oversee research related operations, unity, activities and
initiatives of North Carolina State University faculty, departments, centers and institutes, as well
as federal agencies. Because the Corporation’s Board consists of University employees and
members appointed by the Chancellor and its sole purpose is to support and benefit the
University, the Corporation and the LLCs are considered part of the University for financial
reporting purposes.

Separate financial statements for the Investment Fund, and for the Corporation and the LLCs may
be obtained from the Foundations Accounting and Investments Office, Campus Box 7207,
Raleigh, NC 27695, or by calling (919) 513-7149.

Condensed combining information regarding blended component units is provided in Note 20.

Discretely Presented Component Units - The North Carolina State University Foundation,
Inc. (Foundation) and The North Carolina Agricultural Foundation, Inc. (Agricultural Foundation) are
legally separate nonprofit corporations and are reported as discretely presented component units
based on the nature and significance of their relationship to the University.

The Foundation and Agricultural Foundation are legally separate, tax-exempt component units of
the University. These entities act primarily as fundraising organizations to supplement the
resources that are available to the University in support of its programs. Separate Boards of
Directors govern these entities independent of the University’s Board of Trustees. Although the
University does not control the timing or amount of receipts from these entities, the majority of
resources or income thereon that these entities hold and invest are restricted to the activities of
the University by the donors. Because these restricted resources held by these entities can only
be used by, or for the benefit of the University, these entities are considered component units of
the University and are reported in separate financial statements because of the difference in their
reporting model, as described below.

The Foundation and Agricultural Foundation are private nonprofit organizations that report their
financial results under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Codification. As such,
certain revenue recognition criteria and presentation features are different from Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) revenue recognition criteria and presentation features. No
modifications have been made to their financial information in the University's financial reporting
entity for these differences.

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Foundation distributed $17,443,395 to the University for
both restricted and unrestricted purposes. Complete financial statements for the Foundation can
be obtained from the Foundations Accounting and Investments Office, Campus Box 7207,
Raleigh, NC 27695, or by calling (919) 513-7149.

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Agricultural Foundation distributed $33,570,947 to the
University for both restricted and unrestricted purposes. Complete financial statements for the
Agricultural Foundation can be obtained from the Foundations Accounting and Investments Office,
Campus Box 7207, Raleigh, NC 27695, or by calling (919) 513-7149.

Basis of Presentation - The accompanying financial statements are presented in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as prescribed by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments, as
amended by GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements - and Management'’s Discussion
and Analysis - for Public Colleges and Universities, and GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary
Activities, require the presentation of both proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements. See
below for a description of each fund.

Proprietary Fund - This fund accounts for the University’'s primary activities and is presented in
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a single column on the accompanying proprietary fund financial statements.

Fiduciary Funds - This fund accounts for all of the University’'s fiduciary activities, which are
considered custodial funds.

Basis of Accounting - The financial statements of the University have been prepared using the
economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis, revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses are recorded when an obligation has
been incurred, regardless of the timing of the cash flows.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the University receives (or gives) value without directly giving
(or receiving) equal value in exchange, include state appropriations, certain grants, and donations.
Revenues are recognized, net of estimated uncollectible amounts, as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met, if probable of collection.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - This classification includes undeposited receipts, petty cash,
cash on deposit with private bank accounts, savings accounts, money market accounts, and
deposits held by the State Treasurer in the Short-Term Investment Fund (STIF). The STIF
maintained by the State Treasurer has the general characteristics of a demand deposit account in
that participants may deposit and withdraw cash at any time without prior notice or penalty.

Investments - To the extent available, investments are recorded at fair value based on quoted
market prices in active markets on a trade-date basis. Additional information regarding the fair
value measurement of investments is disclosed in Note 3. Because of the inherent uncertainty in
the use of estimates, values that are based on estimates may differ from the values that would
have been used had a ready market existed for the investments. The net change in the value of
investments is recognized as a component of investment income.

Domestic stocks are reported at cost since there are no readily determinable fair values. These
investments consist of technology transfer stocks and the Wolfpack Investor Network's Seed
Capital Endowment Fund stocks.

The Kamphoefner art collection, a gift to the Endowment Fund in 1979, is recorded at estimated
fair value as of the date of donation. Mineral rights were a gift to the Endowment Fund in 1987.
The most recent sale from 2016 was used to adjust the value per acre.

Endowment investments include the principal amount of gifts and bequests that, according to
donor restrictions, must be held in perpetuity or for a specified period of time along with any
accumulated investment earnings on such amounts. Further, endowment investments also
include amounts internally designated by the University for investment in an endowment capacity
(i.e. quasi-endowments), along with accumulated investment earnings on such amounts.

Receivables - Receivables consist of tuition and fees charged to students and charges for
auxiliary enterprises’ sales and services. Receivables also include amounts due from the federal
government, state and local governments, and private sources in connection with reimbursement
of allowable expenditures made pursuant to contracts and grants. Receivables are recorded net of
estimated uncollectible amounts.

Inventories - Inventories, consisting of expendable supplies and merchandise for resale, are
valued at cost using the first-in, first-out method. Exceptions are the bookstore, which uses the
retail inventory method, and the physical plant, which uses the moving weighted average method.

Capital Assets - Capital assets are stated at cost at date of acquisition or acquisition value at
date of donation in the case of gifts. Donated capital assets acquired prior to July 1, 2015 are
stated at fair value as of the date of donation. The value of assets constructed includes all material
direct and indirect construction costs.

The University capitalizes assets that have a value or cost of $5,000 or greater at the date of
acquisition and an estimated useful life of more than one year except for internally generated
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software which is capitalized when the value or cost is $1,000,000 or greater and other intangible
assets which are capitalized when the value or cost is $100,000 or greater.

Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets in the following manner:

Asset Class Estimated Useful Lif
Buildings 10-50 years
Machinery and Equipment 4-22 years
General Infrastructure 15-75 years
Computer Software 2-15 years

The University does not capitalize its Arts and Design or Historic collections. These collections
adhere to the University’s policy to maintain for public exhibition, education, or research; protect,
keep unencumbered, care for, and preserve; and require proceeds from their sale to be used to
acquire other collection items. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America permit collections maintained in this manner to be charged to operations at time of
purchase rather than be capitalized.

Restricted Assets - Certain resources are reported as restricted assets because restrictions on
asset use change the nature or normal understanding of the availability of the asset. Resources
that are not available for current operations and are reported as restricted include resources
restricted for the acquisition or construction of capital assets, resources legally segregated for the
payment of principal and interest as required by debt covenants, unspent debt proceeds, and
endowment and other restricted investments.

Accounting and Reporting of Fiduciary Activities - Pursuant to the provisions of GASB
Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, custodial funds that are normally expected to be received
and disbursed within a 3-month period or otherwise do not meet the fiduciary activity criteria
defined by GASB Statement No. 84 continue to be reported in the Statement of Net Position as
funds held for others and as operating activities in the Statement of Cash Flows.

All trust or custodial funds meeting the criteria of a fiduciary activity are reported in separate
fiduciary fund financial statements.

Noncurrent Long-Term Liabilities - Noncurrent long-term liabilities include principal amounts
of long-term debt and other long-term liabilities that will not be paid within the next fiscal year.
Debt is defined as a liability that arises from a contractual obligation to pay cash (or other assets
that may be used in lieu of cash) in one or more payments to settle an amount that is fixed at the
date the contractual obligation is established. Long-term debt includes: revenue bonds, revenue
bonds from direct placement, notes from direct borrowings, and capital leases. Other long-term
liabilities include: pollution remediation, asset retirement obligations, compensated absences, net
pension liability, net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability, and workers’ compensation.

Revenue bonds are reported net of unamortized premiums or discounts. The University amortizes
bond premiums/discounts over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method. Losses on
refunding and issuance costs on bonds are not material to the accompanying financial statements
and are expensed in the year incurred.

The net pension liability represents the University's proportionate share of the collective net
pension liability reported in the State of North Carolina’s 2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report. This liability represents the University's portion of the collective total pension liability less
the fiduciary net position of the Teachers’ and State Employees’ Retirement System. See Note 14
for further information regarding the University’s policies for recognizing liabilities, expenses,
deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.
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The net OPEB liability represents the University’s proportionate share of the collective net OPEB
liability reported in the State of North Carolina’s 2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.
This liability represents the University’'s portion of the collective total OPEB liability less the
fiduciary net position of the Retiree Health Benefit Fund. See Note 15 for further information
regarding the University’s policies for recognizing liabilities, expenses, deferred outflows of
resources, and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB.

Compensated Absences - The University's policy is to record the cost of vacation leave when
earned. The policy provides for a maximum accumulation of unused vacation leave of 30 days
which can be carried forward each January 1 or for which an employee can be paid upon
termination of employment. When classifying compensated absences into current and noncurrent,
leave is considered taken using a last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. Also, any accumulated vacation
leave in excess of 30 days at year-end is converted to sick leave. Under this policy, the
accumulated vacation leave for each employee at June 30 equals the leave carried forward at the
previous December 31 plus the leave earned, less the leave taken between January 1 and June
30.

In addition to the vacation leave described above, compensated absences include the
accumulated unused portion of the special annual leave bonuses awarded by the North Carolina
General Assembly. The bonus leave balance on December 31 is retained by employees and
transferred into the next calendar year. It is not subject to the limitation on annual leave carried
forward described above and is not subject to conversion to sick leave.

There is no liability for unpaid accumulated sick leave because the University has no obligation to
pay sick leave upon termination or retirement. However, additional service credit for retirement
pension benefits is given for accumulated sick leave upon retirement.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - Deferred outflows of resources represent a
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an
outflow of resources (expense) until then. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition
of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of
resources (revenue) until then.

Net Position - The University's net position is classified as follows:
Proprietary Fund

Net Investment in Capital Assets - This represents the University’s total investment in
capital assets, net of outstanding liabilities related to those capital assets. To the extent debt has
been incurred but not yet expended for capital assets, such amounts are not included as a
component of net investment in capital assets. Additionally, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement
of capital assets or related debt are also included in this component of net position.

Restricted Net Position - Nonexpendable - Nonexpendable restricted net position includes
endowments and similar type assets whose use is limited by donors or other outside sources,
and, as a condition of the gift, the principal is to be maintained in perpetuity.

Restricted Net Position - Expendable - Expendable restricted net position includes
resources for which the University is legally or contractually obligated to spend in accordance with
restrictions imposed by external parties.

Unrestricted Net Position - Unrestricted net position includes resources derived from student
tuition and fees, sales and services, unrestricted gifts, royalties, and interest income. It also
includes the net position of accrued employee benefits such as compensated absences, workers’
compensation, pension plans, and other postemployment benefits.

Restricted and unrestricted resources are tracked using a fund accounting system and are spent in
accordance with established fund authorities. Fund authorities provide rules for the fund activity
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and are separately established for restricted and unrestricted activities. When both restricted and
unrestricted funds are available for expenditure, the decision for funding is transactional based
within the departmental management system in place at the University. Both restricted and
unrestricted net position include consideration of deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources. See Note 11 for further information regarding deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources that had a significant effect on unrestricted net position.

Fiduciary Funds

Restricted Net Position - Fiduciary net position includes resources held in a custodial capacity
for external pool participants in the University’'s External Investment Fund and for other
organizations; these resources are not available for alternative use by the University.

Scholarship Discounts - Student tuition and fees revenues and certain other revenues from
University charges are reported net of scholarship discounts in the accompanying Statement of
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. The scholarship discount is the difference
between the actual charge for goods and services provided by the University and the amount that
is paid by students or by third parties on the students’ behalf. Student financial assistance grants,
such as Pell grants, and other federal, state, or nongovernmental programs, are recorded as
nonoperating revenues in the accompanying Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in
Net Position. To the extent that revenues from these programs are used to satisfy tuition, fees,
and other charges, the University has recorded a scholarship discount.

Revenue and Expense Recognition - The University classifies its revenues and expenses as
operating or nonoperating in the accompanying Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes
in Net Position. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and
producing and delivering goods in connection with the University's principal ongoing operations.
Operating revenues include activities that have characteristics of exchange transactions, such as
(1) student tuition and fees, (2) sales and services of auxiliary enterprises, (3) certain federal, state,
and local grants and contracts that are essentially contracts for services, and (4) interest earned on
loans. Operating expenses are all expense transactions incurred other than those related to capital
and noncapital financing or investing activities as defined by GASB Statement No. 9, Reporting
Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That Use
Proprietary Fund Accounting.

Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange
transactions. Revenues from nonexchange transactions that represent subsidies or gifts to the
University, as well as investment income, are considered nonoperating since these are either
investing, capital, or noncapital financing activities. Capital contributions are presented separately
after nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Internal Sales Activities - Certain institutional auxiliary operations provide goods and services
to University departments, as well as to its customers. These institutional auxiliary operations
include activities such as Central Stores, the Creamery, Telecommunications, Physical Plant, and
Motor Pool. In addition, the University has other miscellaneous sales and service units that
operated either on a reimbursement or charge basis. All internal sales activities to University
departments from auxiliary operations and sales and service units have been eliminated in the
accompanying financial statements. These eliminations are recorded by removing the revenue and
expense in the auxiliary operations and sales and service units and, if significant, allocating any
residual balances to those departments receiving the goods and services during the year.

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

A.

Deposits - Unless specifically exempt, the University is required by North Carolina General
Statute 147-77 to deposit moneys received with the State Treasurer or with a depository
institution in the name of the State Treasurer. However, the University of North Carolina Board of
Governors, pursuant to G.S. 116-36.1, may authorize the University to deposit its institutional trust
funds in interest-bearing accounts and other investments authorized by the Board of Governors,
without regard to any statute or rule of law relating to the investment of funds by fiduciaries.
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Although specifically exempted, the University may voluntarily deposit institutional trust funds,
endowment funds, special funds, revenue bond proceeds, debt service funds, and funds received
for services rendered by health care professionals with the State Treasurer. Special funds consist
of moneys for intercollegiate athletics and agency funds held directly by the University.

At June 30, 2021, the amounts shown on the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Fiduciary Net Position as cash and cash equivalents include $529,884,428 for the proprietary fund
and $49,006,989 for fiduciary funds, which represent the University's equity position in the State
Treasurer’s Short-Term Investment Fund (STIF). The STIF (a portfolio within the State Treasurer's
Investment Pool, an external investment pool that is not registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or subject to any other regulatory oversight and does not have a credit
rating) had a weighted average maturity of 1.3 years as of June 30, 2021. Assets and shares of the
STIF are valued at fair value. Deposit and investment risks associated with the State Treasurer’s
Investment Pool (which includes the State Treasurer’'s STIF) are included in the North Carolina
Department of State Treasurer Investment Programs’ separately issued audit report. This
separately issued report can be obtained from the Department of State Treasurer, 3200 Atlantic
Avenue, Raleigh, NC 27604 or can be accessed from the Department of State Treasurer’'s website
at https://www.nctreasurer.com in the Audited Financial Statements section.

Cash on hand at June 30, 2021 was $120,500. The carrying amount of the University’s deposits
not with the State Treasurer was $3,812,166, and the bank balance was $5,055,233. Custodial
credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the University’s deposits may not be
returned to it. The University follows the Cash Management Plan (Plan) approved by the North
Carolina Office of the State Controller. As provided by the Plan, imprest checking accounts are
established with outside banks when considered effective in meeting management objectives. All
imprest checking accounts are authorized by the University Treasurer and are limited to the
minimum amount needed for sanctioned purposes. In addition, pursuant to G.S. 116-36(e), the
University invests certain endowment funds with outside bank accounts. The University does not
have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2021, the University's bank balance
exposed to custodial credit risk (amounts that are uninsured and uncollateralized) was $4,253,549.

Investments - The University is authorized by the University of North Carolina Board of
Governors pursuant to G.S. 116-36.2 and Section 600.2.4 of the Policy Manual of the University of
North Carolina to invest its special funds and funds received for services rendered by health care
professionals in the same manner as the State Treasurer is required to invest, as discussed below.

Additionally, the University has also been delegated authority by the President of the University of
North Carolina pursuant to G.S. 116-36.1 and Section 600.2.4.1 of the Policy Manual of the
University of North Carolina to invest its trust funds in the same manner as the State Treasurer is
required to invest, as discussed below.

G.S. 147-69.1(c), applicable to the State's General Fund, and G.S. 147-69.2, applicable to
institutional trust funds, authorize the State Treasurer to invest in the following: obligations of or
fully guaranteed by the United States; obligations of certain federal agencies; repurchase
agreements; obligations of the State of North Carolina; certificates of deposit and other deposit
accounts of specified financial institutions; prime quality commercial paper; asset-backed
securities with specified ratings, specified bills of exchange or time drafts, and corporate bonds/
notes with specified ratings; general obligations of other states; general obligations of North
Carolina local governments; and obligations of certain entities with specified ratings.

In accordance with the bond resolutions, bond proceeds and debt service funds are invested in
obligations that will by their terms mature on or before the date funds are expected to be required
for expenditure or withdrawal.

G.S. 116-36(e) provides that the trustees of the Endowment Fund shall be responsible for the
prudent investment of the Fund in the exercise of their sound discretion, without regard to any
statute or rule of law relating to the investment of funds by fiduciaries but in compliance with any
lawful condition placed by the donor upon that part of the Endowment Fund to be invested.
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Investments of the Endowment Fund, including those invested in the Investment Fund, a
University component unit, are subject to and restricted by G.S. 36E “Uniform Prudent
Management of Institutional Funds Act” (UPMIFA) and any requirements placed on them by
contract or donor agreements.

Investments from various donors or other sources may be pooled unless prohibited by statute or
by terms of the gift or contract. The University utilizes investment pools to manage investments
and distribute investment income.

Investments are subject to the following risks as defined by GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and
Investment Risk Disclosures — An Amendment of GASB Statement No. 3.

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk the University may face should interest rate
variances affect the value of investments. The University does not have a formal policy that
addresses interest rate risk.

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not
fulfill its obligations. The University does not have a formal policy that addresses credit risk.

Investment Fund - The Investment Fund began operations in April 1999 and is classified as a
non-rated 2a7-like governmental external investment pool that is not registered with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) as an investment company, but has a policy that it will, and
does, operate in a manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of
1940. The Endowment Fund of North Carolina State University, The North Carolina Agricultural
Foundation, Inc., and the North Carolina State University Foundation, Inc. represent the
Investment Fund’s internal participants. The North Carolina Agricultural Foundation, Inc. and the
North Carolina State University Foundation, Inc. are discretely presented component units in the
accompanying financial statements. Other affiliated organizations not included in the University's
reporting entity represent the Investment Fund'’s external participants. The external portion of the
Investment Fund is now presented in the fiduciary fund financial statements. The Investment
Fund includes the Long-Term Investment Pool (LTIP) and the Intermediate Term Fund (ITF), which
was established on July 3, 2014 for the collective investment of the participants’ excess operating
funds.

Oversight of the Investment Fund is provided by its Members Board and Board of Directors. The
Members Board is responsible for providing governance and oversight to the Investment
Fund. The Members Board has chosen not to make individual security or manager selection
decisions. The Board of Directors’ primary role is to oversee all aspects of the investment
program, including development and approval of the Investment Policy Statement and any
changes made to it after its initial adoption, in a prudent manner with regard to preserving principal
while providing reasonable returns. An Investment Committee of the Board of Directors is
responsible for oversight of the ITF.

Bank of New York Mellon is the custodian for the Investment Fund and provides the University
with quarterly statements defining income and fair value information, which is then allocated
among the fund'’s participants. Each participant holds Master Trust Units of the Investment Fund.
The unit price fluctuates based on the investment experience of the investment pool. There are no
involuntary participants in the Investment Fund. The University has not provided or obtained any
legally binding guarantees during the period to support the value for the Investment Fund's
investments. The annual financial report for the Investment Fund may be obtained from the
Foundations Accounting and Investment Office, Campus Box 7207, Raleigh, NC 27695 or by
calling (919) 513-7149 or at http://foundationsaccounting.ofa.ncsu.edu/investment-fund.

The following tables in this section present the Investment Fund in total, including both proprietary

and fiduciary funds. See Note 2C below for further details regarding investments by fund type
within the Investment Fund.
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The following table presents investments by type and investments subject to interest rate risk at
June 30, 2021, for the Investment Fund.

Investment Fund

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Less
Amount Than 1 1t05 61010
Investment Type
Debt Securities
Collective Investment Funds $ 191,178,651 $ 147,221,769 $ 17,186,122 $ 26,770,760
Debt Mutual Funds 234,462,112 - 199,754,300 34,707,812
Total Debt Securities 425,640,763 $ 147,221,769 $ 216,940,422 $ 61,478,572
Other Securities
UNC Investment Fund $ 1,307,232,760
Private Equity Limited Partnerships 48,357,011
Total Investment Fund $ 1,781,230,534

At June 30, 2021, investments in the Investment Fund had the following credit quality distribu-
tion for securities with credit exposure (based on S&P rating):

BB/Ba
AA BBB and
Amount Aa A Baa below Unrated
Collective Investment Funds $ 191,178,651 $ 15,271,037 $ 26,770,759 $ - $ 1,915,085 $ 147,221,770
Debt Mutual Funds 234,462,112 - - 139,128,908 34,707,802 60,625,402
Totals $ 425,640,763 $ 15,271,037 $ 26,770,759 $ 139,128,908 $ 36,622,887 $ 207,847,172

UNC Investment Fund, LLC - At June 30, 2021, the University's investments include
$1,307,232,760, which represents the University's equity position in the UNC Investment Fund,
LLC (UNC Investment Fund). The UNC Investment Fund is an external investment pool that is
not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, does not have a credit rating, and
is not subject to any regulatory oversight. Investment risks associated with the UNC Investment
Fund are included in audited financial statements of the UNC Investment Fund, LLC which may
be obtained from UNC Management Company, Inc., 1400 Environ Way, Chapel Hill, NC 27517.

Non-Pooled Investments - The following table presents investments by type at
June 30, 2021, for the University’s non-pooled investments.

Non-Pooled Investments

Amount
Investment Type
Domestic Stocks $ 408,111
Collections and Mineral Rights 65,134
Total Non-Pooled Investments $ 473,245
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Total Investments - The following table presents the total investments at June 30, 2021:

Amount

Investment Type

Debt Securities
Collective Investment Funds $ 191,178,651
Debt Mutual Funds 234,462,112

Other Securities
UNC Investment Fund 1,307,232,760
Private Equity Limited Partnerships 48,357,011
Domestic Stocks 408,111
Collections and Mineral Rights 65,134
Total Investments $ 1,781,703,779

Total investments include $664,180,057 held in the Investment Fund for the North Carolina State
University Foundation, Inc. and The North Carolina Agricultural Foundation, Inc. This amount is ex-
cluded from the University prepared financial statements and included in the accompanying com-
ponent unit financial statements.

C. Reconciliation of Deposits and Investments - A reconciliation of deposits and investments
for the University as of June 30, 2021, is as follows:

Proprietary Fund Fiduciary Fund Total

Cash on Hand $ 120,500 $ - $ 120,500
Amount of Deposits with Private Financial Institutions 3,812,166 - 3,812,166
Deposits in the Short-Term Investment Fund 529,884,428 49,006,989 578,891,417
Investment Fund 698,691,887 418,358,591 1,117,050,478
Non-Pooled Investments 473,244 - 473,244
Total Deposits and Investments $ 1,232,982,225  $ 467,365,680  $ 1,700,347,805
Deposits

Current:

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 192,959,747  $ 49,006,989 $ 241,966,736

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 177,157,763 - 177,157,763
Noncurrent:

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 163,699,584 - 163,699,584
Total Deposits 533,817,094 49,006,989 582,824,083
Investments
Noncurrent:

Endowment Investments 522,702,478 - 522,702,478

Other Long-Term Investments 176,462,653 - 176,462,653

Intermediate Investments - 19,602,214 19,602,214

Long-Term Investments - 398,756,377 398,756,377
Total Investments 699,165,131 418,358,591 1,117,523,722
Total Deposits and Investments $ 1,232,982,225 $ 467,365,580 $ 1,700,347,805
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NoOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MIEASUREMENTS

To the extent available, the University’s investments are recorded at fair value as of June 30, 2021.
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, defines fair value as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between mar-
ket participants at the measurement date. This statement establishes a hierarchy of valuation inputs
based on the extent to which the inputs are observable in the marketplace. Inputs are used in apply-
ing the various valuation techniques and take into account the assumptions that market participants
use to make valuation decisions. Inputs may include price information, credit data, interest and yield
curve data, and other factors specific to the financial instrument. Observable inputs reflect market
data obtained from independent sources. In contrast, unobservable inputs reflect the entity’s assump-
tions about how market participants would value the financial instrument. Valuation techniques should
maximize the use of observable inputs to the extent available.

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The following describes the hierarchy of inputs used
to measure fair value and the primary valuation methodologies used for financial instruments meas-
ured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Level 1 Investments whose values are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) for identi-
cal assets in active markets that a government can access at the measurement
date.

Level 2 Investments with inputs - other than quoted prices included within Level 1 -

that are observable for an asset, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 Investments classified as Level 3 have unobservable inputs for an asset and
may require a degree of professional judgment.

The following table summarizes the University's proprietary and fiduciary fund investments, including
deposits in the Short-Term Investment Fund, within the fair value hierarchy at June 30, 2021:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Fair Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Value Inputs Inputs Inputs
Investments by Fair Value Level
Debt Securities
Collective Investment Funds $ 191,178,651 $ 191,178,651 $ - $ -
Debt Mutual Funds 234,462,112 234,462,112 - -
Total Investments by Fair Value Level 425,640,763 $ 425,640,763 $ - $ -
Investments Measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV)
Private Equity Limited Partnerships 48,357,011
Investments as a Position in an External Investment Pool
Short-Term Investment Fund 578,891,417
UNC Investment Fund 1,307,232,760
Total Investments as a Position in an External Investment Pool 1,886,124,177
Total Investments Measured at Fair Value $ 2,360,121,951
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Debt Securities - Debt securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using
prices quoted in active markets for those securities.

Short-Term Investment Fund - Ownership interests of the STIF are determined on a fair market
valuation basis as of fiscal year end in accordance with the STIF operating procedures. Valuation of
the underlying assets is performed by the custodian. Pool investments are measured at fair value in
accordance with GASB 72. The University’s position in the pool is measured and reported at fair value
and the STIF is not required to be categorized within the fair value hierarchy.

UNC Investment Fund - Ownership interests of the UNC Investment Fund are determined on a
market unit valuation basis each month and in accordance with the UNC Investment Fund'’s operating
procedures. Valuation of the underlying assets is performed by the custodian. Pool investments are
measured at fair value in accordance with GASB 72. The University's position in the pool is measured
and reported at fair value and the UNC Investment Fund is not required to be categorized within the
fair value hierarchy.

The following table presents the valuation of investments measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV) per
share (or its equivalent) at June 30, 2021.

Investments Measured at the NAV

Redemption

Fair Unfunded Frequency Redemption
Value Commitments (If Currently Eligible) Notice Period
Private Equity Limited Partnerships $ 48,357,011 $ 52,489,278 N/A N/A

NOTE 4 -

Private Equity Limited Partnerships - Private equities include venture capital partnerships, buy-
outs, and international funds. The valuation of the underlying private companies requires significant
judgment and interpretation by the general partners of the underlying investment partnerships due to
the absence of quoted market values, inherent lack of liquidity, and the long-term nature of such in-
vestments. Private companies are initially valued based upon transaction price, with subsequent ad-
justments to values which reflect the consideration of available market data, including primarily obser-
vations of the trading multiples of public companies considered comparable to the private companies
being valued. Valuations are also adjusted to give consideration to the financial condition and operat-
ing results specific to the issuer, the lack of liquidity inherent in a non-public investment, credit mar-
kets, and the fact that comparable public companies are not identical to the companies being valued.

ENDOWMENT INVESTMENTS

Investments of the University's endowment funds are pooled, unless required to be separately invest-
ed by the donor. If a donor has not provided specific instructions, State law permits the Board of Trus-
tees to authorize for expenditure the net appreciation, realized and unrealized, of the investments of
the endowment funds. Under the “Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds
Act” (UPMIFA), authorized by the North Carolina General Assembly on March 19, 2009, the Board
may also appropriate expenditures from eligible nonexpendable balances if deemed prudent and nec-
essary to meet program outcomes and for which such spending is not specifically prohibited by the
donor agreements, or applicable State of NC law. However, a majority of the University's endowment
donor agreements prohibit spending of nonexpendable balances, and therefore, the related nonex-
pendable balances are not eligible for expenditure. During the year, the Board did not appropriate ex-
penditures from eligible nonexpendable endowment funds.

Investment return of the University's endowment funds is predicated on the total return concept
(yield plus appreciation). Annual payouts from the University pooled endowment funds are deter-
mined by applying 4% (the Board approved spending rate) to the average market value of the long-
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term investment pool (for a twenty quarter period), divided by the number of investment units in the
pool to determine the "average spending amount" per unit of investment. The individual endowment
fund payout or spending budget is then determined by applying the "average spending amount" to the
number of investment units held by the individual endowment fund. To the extent that the total return
for the current year exceeds the payout, the excess is added to principal. If current year earnings do not
meet the payout requirements, the University uses accumulated income and appreciation from restrict-
ed and unrestricted, expendable net position endowment balances to make up the difference. At
June 30, 2021, net appreciation of $353,952,375 was available to be spent, of which $326,416,277 was
restricted to specific purposes. The remaining portion of net appreciation available to be spent is classi-
fied as unrestricted net position.

NOTE 5 - RECEIVABLES

Receivables at June 30, 2021, were as follows:

Gross Less Allowance for Net
Receivables  Doubtful Accounts Receivables

Current Receivables:

Students $ 2,025,720 $ 1,265,539 $ 760,181
Student Sponsors 1,657,408 - 1,657,408
Accounts 22,425,046 1,523,306 20,901,740
Intergovernmental 38,112,160 - 38,112,160
Grant Sponsors 27,275,442 - 27,275,442
Interest on Loans 565,685 538,689 26,996

Total Current Receivables $ 92,061,461 $ 3,327,534 $§ 88,733,927

Notes Receivable:
Notes Receivable - Current:

Federal Loan Programs $ 2,215,363 $ 12,386 $ 2,202,977
Institutional Student Loan Programs 310,864 770 310,094
Total Notes Receivable - Current $ 2,626,227 $ 13,156 $ 2,513,071
Notes Receivable - Noncurrent:
Federal Loan Programs $ 3,995,458 $ 779,253 $ 3,216,205
Institutional Student Loan Programs 240,615 166,309 74,306
Total Notes Receivable - Noncurrent $ 4,236,073 $ 945,562 $ 3,290,511
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NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ASSETS

A summary of

changes

June 30, 2021, is presented as follows:

Capital Assets, Nondepreciable:
Land and Permanent Easements
Construction in Progress
Computer Software in Development

Total Capital Assets, Nondepreciable

Capital Assets, Depreciable:
Buildings
Machinery and Equipment
General Infrastructure
Computer Software

Total Capital Assets, Depreciable

Less Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization for:
Buildings
Machinery and Equipment
General Infrastructure
Computer Software

Total Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization
Total Capital Assets, Depreciable, Net

Capital Assets, Net

$

in the capital assets for the year ended
Balance Balance
July 1, 2020 Increases Decreases June 30, 2021
78,542,761 $ - $ - $ 78,542,761
216,068,020 112,976,614 206,506,034 122,538,600
545,042 3,489,843 3,322,159 712,726
295,155,823 116,466,457 209,828,193 201,794,087
2,423,773,093 194,936,947 7,835,626 2,610,874,414
433,703,642 32,071,695 16,279,988 449,495,349
250,178,267 11,569,087 498,122 261,249,232
34,854,345 3,322,159 - 38,176,504
3,142,509,347 241,899,888 24,613,736 3,359,795,499
875,601,529 77,833,363 5,497,140 947,937,752
257,858,647 28,102,434 14,642,188 271,318,893
85,193,597 6,045,510 44,623 91,194,484
26,512,319 2,966,131 - 29,478,450
1,245,166,092 114,947,438 20,183,951 1,339,929,579
1,897,343,255 126,952,450 4,429,785 2,019,865,920

2,192,499,078 $

243,418,907 $

214,257,978 $

2,221,660,007

Due to an electrical fire, the University incurred an impairment loss of $453,499 that was netted
against an insurance recovery of $2,179,535.
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NOTE 7 -

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at June 30, 2021, were as follows:

Proprietary Fund Fiduciary Fund

Current Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 15,151,030 $ 215,538
Accounts Payable - Capital Assets 14,954,442 -
Accrued Payroll 7,240,077 -
Contract Retainage 5,786,946 -
Other 11,456,091 -
Total Current Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities $ 54,588,586 $ 215,538
NOTE8 - SHORT-TERM DEBT - COMMERCIAL PAPER PROGRAM AND LINE OF CREDIT

The University has available Commercial Paper Program financing for short-term debt credit up to
$100,000,000 to finance capital construction projects. The University's available funds are pledged to
the Commercial Paper Program financing with the anticipation of converting to general revenue bond
financing in the future. As of June 30, 2021, the Commercial Paper balance was zero. The commercial
paper contains a provision that on the occurrence and continuance of an event of default, the Trustee
may, or if required by a majority of the owners of the bonds, must, declare the bonds to be immedi-
ately due and payable (except if matured installments are paid before any judgment or decree is ob-
tained). Events of default are defined as (1) failure to make any payment when due or (2) failure to
perform any covenant, condition, agreement, or provision (other than failure to pay), which failure con-
tinues for a period of 30 days after written notice, specifying such failure and requesting that it be
remedied.

The NC State University Partnership Corporation (Corporation), through the NC State University Cen-
tennial Development LLC, has available a Line of Credit, from TowneBank, up to $300,000 for opera-
tions at the Lonnie Poole Golf Course. The line is unsecured and must maintain a zero balance for at
least 30 consecutive days during each twelve months. As of June 30, 2021, the Line of Credit balance
was zero. The Line of Credit contains an event of default provision that if the Corporation is unable to
make any payment when due, all commitments and obligations of the Lender immediately will termi-
nate and, at Lender’s option, all indebtedness immediately will become due and payable. Also, upon
default, the interest rate on the Line of Credit will be increased by an additional 3% margin, subject to
the maximum interest rate limitations under applicable law.

Short-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2021, was as follows:

Balance Balance
July 1, 2020 Draws Repayments June 30, 2021
Commercial Paper Program $ 50,000,000 $ - $ 50,000,000 $ -
Partnership Corporation - Line of Credit 46,168 - 46,168 -
Total Short-Term Debt $ 50,046,168 3 - $ 50,046,168 $ -
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Unused Line of Credit - The NC State University Partnership Corporation, through the NC State
University Centennial Development LLC, has an unused portion of their Line of Credit in the amount
of $300,000.

NOTE 9 - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

A. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities - A summary of changes in the long-term liabilities for
the year ended June 30, 2021, is presented as follows:

Balance Balance Current
July 1, 2020 Additions Reductions June 30, 2021 Portion
Long-Term Debt
Revenue Bonds $ 393,795,000 $ 266,780,000 $ 189,175,000 $ 471,400,000 $ 16,355,000
Revenue Bonds from Direct Placement 37,713,828 - 4,296,318 33,417,510 4,408,612
Plus: Unamortized Premium 27,229,610 19,294,654 18,942,961 27,581,303 -
Total Revenue Bonds, Net 458,738,438 286,074,654 212,414,279 532,398,813 20,763,612
Notes from Direct Borrowings 56,706,394 - 4,987,708 51,718,686 5,500,029
Capital Leases Payable 196,456 436,604 199,056 434,004 114,643
Total Long-Term Debt 515,641,288 286,511,258 217,601,043 584,551,503 26,378,284
Other Long-Term Liabilities
Pollution Remediation Payable 4,399,615 - 108,571 4,291,044 104,929
Asset Retirement Obligations 13,846,001 492,275 - 14,338,276 -
Employee Benefits
Compensated Absences 85,363,517 49,759,743 50,154,199 84,969,061 4,179,517
Net Pension Liability 234,403,118 39,649,195 - 274,052,313 -
Net Other Postemployments Benefits Liability 1,228,738,701 - 145,797,694 1,082,941,007 -
Workers' Compensation 10,997,750 1,466,507 2,085,839 10,378,418 1,626,091
Total Other Long-Term Liabilities 1,577,748,702 91,367,720 198,146,303 1,470,970,119 5,910,537
Total Long-Term Liabilities, Net $ 2,093,389,990 $ 377,878,978 $ 415,747,346 $ 2,055,521,622 $ 32,288,821

Additional information regarding capital lease payable is included in Note 10.

Additional information regarding the net pension liability is included in Note 14.

Additional information regarding the net other postemployment benefits liability is included in Note 15.
Additional information regarding worker's compensation is included in Note 16.
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in the following table:

Revenue Bonds and Revenue Bonds from Direct Placements — The University was
indebted for revenue bonds and revenue bonds from direct placements for the purposes shown

Interest Final Original Principal Principal
Rate/ Maturity Amount Paid Through Outstanding
Purpose Series Ranges Date of Issue June 30, 2021 June 30, 2021
General Revenue
Various Construction Projects 2010A 5% 10/01/2022 $ 18,065,000 $ 15,035,000 $ 3,030,000
Adv Refund 2005A / Wolf Ridge Housing 2013A 2% - 5% 10/01/2023 132,440,000 125,125,000 7,315,000
Adv Refund 2005A / Talley Student Union 2013B 2.223% - 4% 10/01/2041 141,650,000 14,255,000 127,395,000
Refund 2003B and 2015 2018 5% 10/01/2028 87,165,000 18,410,000 68,755,000
Refund 2010B / Carmichael 2020A 2.375% - 5% 10/01/2044 82,335,000 - 82,335,000
Adv Refund 2013A / Fitts-Woolard; Plant Sciences 2020B  0.702% - 3.02%  10/01/2042 184,445,000 1,875,000 182,570,000
Total Revenue Bonds 646,100,000 174,700,000 471,400,000
General Revenue Bonds from Direct Placement

Various Construction Projects 2017 2.58% 10/01/2031 50,438,952 17,021,442 33,417,510
Total Revenue Bonds and Revenue Bonds from Direct Placement (principal only) $ 696,538,952 $ 191,721,442 504,817,510
Plus: Unamortized Premium 27,581,303
Total Revenue Bonds and Revenue Bonds from Direct Placement $ 532,398,813

C. Notes from Direct Borrowings - The University was indebted for notes from direct borrow-
ings for the purposes shown in the following table:

Final Original Principal Principal
Financial Interest Maturity Amount Paid Through Outstanding
Purpose Institution Rate Date of Issue June 30, 2021 June 30, 2021
Energy Conservation Loan BB&T 3.245% 09/01/2028 $ 19,700,703 $ 7,752,400 $ 11,948,303
Energy Conservation Loan Bank of America 4.07% 08/17/2028 56,060,010 16,289,627 39,770,383
Total Notes from Direct Borrowings $ 75,760,713 $ 24,042,027 $ 51,718,686

D. Annual Requirements - The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the long-
term obligations at June 30, 2021, are as follows:
Annual Requirements
Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds from Direct Placement Notes from Direct Borrowings

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2022 $ 16,355,000 $ 15,776,712 $ 4,408,612 $ 805,301 $ 5,500,029 $ 1,913,907
2023 16,650,000 15,112,851 4,523,840 690,072 6,085,066 1,691,346
2024 18,090,000 14,400,224 3,629,012 584,900 6,600,585 1,446,955
2025 18,785,000 13,676,476 3,419,944 493,969 7,194,130 1,180,860
2026 19,370,000 12,975,471 3,368,417 406,528 7,747,122 892,109
2027-2031 133,865,000 53,520,567 11,872,606 1,021,696 18,591,754 826,431
2032-2036 86,875,000 34,858,435 2,205,079 28,445 - -
2037-2041 104,525,000 18,573,990 - - - -
2042-2046 56,885,000 2,164,129 - - - -
Total Requirements $ 471,400,000 $ 181,058,855 $ 33,417,510  § 4,030,911 $ 51,718,686 $ 7,951,608

62 2021 NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNIVERSITY FINANCIAL REPORT



Terms of Debt Agreements - The University's debt agreements are subject to the following
collateral requirements and terms with finance-related consequences:

Revenue Bonds and Revenue Bonds from Direct Placement - The outstanding reve-
nue bonds and revenue bonds from direct placement contain provisions that on the occurrence
and continuance of an event of default, the Trustee may, or if required by a majority of the own-
ers of the bonds, must, declare the bonds to be immediately due and payable (except if matured
installments are paid before any judgment or decree is obtained). Events of default are defined
as (1) failure to make any payment when due or (2) failure to perform any covenant, condition,
agreement, or provision (other than failure to pay), which failure continues for a period of 30
days after written notice, specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied.

Notes from Direct Borrowings - The University has pledged the energy savings improve-
ments installed in its buildings and other structures as collateral for the outstanding notes from
direct borrowings. The outstanding notes from direct borrowings also contain provisions related
to events of default and remedies. Significant to these provisions, an event of default occurs
when: (1) the University fails to pay an installment payment when due, (2) an event of nonappro-
priation from the State occurs, or (3) the University fails to perform any warranty, covenant, con-
dition, or agreement within 30 days of receiving written notice by the lender or fails to diligently
pursue corrective action for matters that cannot be reasonably corrected within 30 days.

Upon the occurrence of any event of default, the lender may, without any further demand or
notice, declare the unpaid principal amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest be due and pay-
able immediately. The lender may also exercise all remedies available by law or in the equity pro-
vided under the agreement, including sale of the secured assets, and apply the proceeds of any
such sale to the amounts due after deducting all costs and expenses related to the recovery,
repair, storage, and sale of the secured assets, including court costs and reasonable attorneys’
fees incurred.

Bond Defeasance - The University has extinguished long-term debt obligations by the issu-
ance of new long-term debt instruments as follows:

On July 7, 2020, the University issued $82,335,000 in General Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A,
with an average interest rate of 3.823%. A portion of the proceeds was used for a current re-
funding of $59,5665,000 of outstanding General Revenue Bonds, Series 2010B (Build America
Bonds), with an average interest rate of 5.928%. The refunding was undertaken to reduce total
debt service payments by $14,327,605 over the next 15 years and resulted in an economic gain
of $12,575,467.

On July 7, 2020, the University issued $184,445,000 in Taxable General Revenue Bonds, Series
2020B bonds with an average interest rate of 2.308%. A portion of the proceeds were used to
advance refund $113,945,000 of outstanding General Revenue Bonds, Series 2013A, with an
average interest rate of 4.671%. The net proceeds of the refunding bonds were used to pur-
chase U.S. government securities. These securities were deposited in an irrevocable trust to
provide for all future debt service payments on the refunded bonds. As a result, the refunded
bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from the University's
Statement of Net Position. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service
payments by $16,216,875 over the next 22 years and resulted in an economic gain of
$13,698,132. At June 30, 2021, the outstanding balance was $113,945,000 for the defeased
General Revenue Bonds, Series 2013A.

Pollution Remediation Payable - The University has recognized a pollution remediation
liability for remediation of Lot 86 which the University used as a burial site for hazardous chemi-
cal and low-level radioactive waste generated in the University’s laboratories. The amount of the
estimated liability is $4,291,044. This estimate was calculated at its expected amount, using the
expected cash flow technique. This liability could change over time due to changes in cost of
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NoTE 10

A.

goods and services, changes in remediation technology, or changes in laws and regulations gov-
erning the remediation effort.

Asset Retirement Obligations - The University has asset retirement obligations arising from
federal regulations to perform certain decommissioning activities at the time of disposal of its
PULSTAR reactor facility. These activities include removal of all activated reactor components,
demolition of the reactor biological shield, and disposal costs for radioactive materials. The amount
of the estimated liability is $14,338,276. The liability was estimated by analyzing the actual decom-
missioning costs of a representative university reactor facility and adjusting the costs to be con-
sistent with the NC State PULSTAR facility. Costs were also adjusted for the effects of inflation.
At year-end, the estimated remaining useful life of the PULSTAR reactor facility was 42 years. In
accordance with 10 CFR 50.75(e)(1)(iv), the University has provided the following Statement of
Intent regarding decommissioning funding. The University is a State government organization and
decommissioning funding obligations are fully backed by the State of North Carolina. Decommis-
sioning funds will be appropriated when necessary following the provisions of NC General Statute
116-11(9)(a).

LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Capital Lease Obligations - Capital lease obligations relating to equipment are recorded at the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Future minimum lease payments under capital
lease obligations consist of the following at June 30, 2021:

Fiscal Year Amount
2022 $ 132,986
2023 121,774
2024 120,573
2025 98,413
Total Minimum Lease Payments 473,746

Amount Representing Interest
(8.39% Rate of Interest) 39,742

Present Value of Future Lease Payments $ 434,004

Machinery and equipment acquired under capital lease amounted to $730,511 at June 30, 2021.

Depreciation for the capital assets associated with capital leases is included in depreciation ex-
pense, and accumulated depreciation for assets acquired under capital lease totaled $288,169 at
June 30, 2021.
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B. Operating Lease Obligations - The University entered into operating leases for equipment

and property rental. Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases con-
sist of the following at June 30, 2021:

Fiscal Year Amount
2022 $ 12,300,274
2023 10,864,272
2024 10,554,774
2025 9,892,315
2026 7,236,860

2027-2031 15,291,121

Total Minimum Lease Payments $ 66,139,616

Rental expense for all operating leases during the year was $21,497,049.

- NET POSITION

Unrestricted net position has been significantly affected by transactions resulting from the recognition
of deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and related long-term liabilities, as
shown in the following table:

Amount

Net Pension Liability and Related Deferred Outflows of

Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources $ (166,579,062)
Net OPEB Liability (Retiree Health Benefit Fund) and Related Deferred

Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources (1,447,151,244)
Effect on Unrestricted Net Position (1,613,730,306)
Total Unrestricted Net Position Before Recognition of Deferred Outflows of

Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Related Long-Term Liabilities 361,153,779
Total Unrestricted Net Position $ (1,252,576,527)

See Notes 14 and 15 for detailed information regarding the amortization of the deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources relating to pensions and OPEB, respectively.
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A summary of discounts and allowances by revenue classification is presented as follows:

Less
Scholarship Less
Gross Discounts Allowance for Net
Revenues and Allowances Uncollectibles Revenues
Operating Revenues:
Student Tuition and Fees, Net $ 438,524,751 $ 109,267,789 $ 175,433 $ 329,081,529
Sales and Services, Net $ 190,676,725 $ 11,354,951 $ 282,886 $ 179,038,888
Other Revenues, Net $ 19,447,820 $ - $ 188,760 $ 19,259,060
NOTE 13 - OPERATING EXPENSES BY FUNCTION

The University’s operating expenses by functional classification are presented as follows:

Salaries Supplies Scholarships
and and and Depreciation/
Benefits Services Fellowships Utilities Amortization Total
Instruction $ 405,329,795 $ 70,673,079 $ -3 160 $ -3 476,003,034
Research 190,856,647 102,374,342 - 877,585 - 294,108,574
Public Service 86,718,295 35,750,470 - 402,600 - 122,871,365
Academic Support 50,329,526 42,380,227 - 76,367 - 92,786,120
Student Services 19,775,574 8,010,682 - 393,979 - 28,180,235
Institutional Support 88,765,449 21,362,570 - 2,674 - 110,130,693
Operations and Maintenance of Plant 39,445,354 25,473,307 - 21,294,591 - 86,213,252
Student Financial Aid 1,189,086 1,498,653 69,942,018 - - 72,629,757
Aucxiliary Enterprises 70,806,978 62,137,629 - 6,140,333 - 139,084,940
Depreciation/Amortization - - - - 114,947,438 114,947,438
Total Operating Expenses $ 953,216,704 $ 369,660,959 $ 69,942,018 $ 29,188,289 $ 114,947,438 $ 1,536,955,408

Included in the scholarship and fellowship function are student financial aid operating expenses for
emergency financial aid payments to eligible students. These payments are for expenses related to
the disruption of campus operations due to the coronavirus of $8,947,941 provided by the Higher Edu-
cation Emergency Relief Fund (HEERF). Because of the administrative involvement by the University
in providing the student awards, the related program activity is reported as nonoperating Federal Aid —
COVID-19 revenue and student financial aid operating expenses. Since the purpose of the student aid
is not for educational or scholarship purposes, they do not affect the scholarship discounting adjust-
ments reported in Note 12.
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A.

PENSION PLANS

Defined Benefit Plan

Plan Administration: The State of North Carolina administers the Teachers’ and State Employ-
ees’ Retirement System (TSERS) plan. This plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined
benefit pension plan established by the State to provide pension benefits for general employees
and law enforcement officers (LEOs) of the State, general employees and LEOs of its compo-
nent units, and employees of Local Education Agencies (LEAs) and charter schools not in the
reporting entity. Membership is comprised of employees of the State (state agencies and institu-
tions), universities, community colleges, and certain proprietary component units along with the
LEAs and charter schools that elect to join the Retirement System. Benefit provisions are estab-
lished by General Statute 135-5 and may be amended only by the North Carolina General As-
sembly.

Benefits Provided: TSERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are
determined as 1.82% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of
creditable service. A member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a
member’s four highest consecutive years of compensation. General employee plan members
are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 65 with five years of membership ser-
vice, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or at any age with 30 years of creditable ser-
vice. General employee plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age
50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of membership service. Survi-
vor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of general members who die while in active
service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who also have either completed 20
years of creditable service regardless of age, or have completed five years of service and have
reached age 60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit
for life or a return of the member’s contributions. The plan does not provide for automatic post-
retirement benefit increases.

Contributions: Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 135-8 and may be
amended only by the North Carolina General Assembly. Employees are required to contribute
6% of their annual pay. The contribution rate for employers is set each year by the North Caroli-
na General Assembly in the Appropriations Act based on the actuarially-determined rate recom-
mended by the actuary. The University's contractually-required contribution rate for the year end-
ed June 30, 2021 was 14.78% of covered payroll. Employee contributions to the pension plan
were $20,695,027, and the University's contributions were $50,978,750 for the year ended June
30, 2021.

The TSERS plan’s financial information, including all information about the plan’s assets, de-
ferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fiduciary net position,
is included in the State of North Carolina’s fiscal year 2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Re-
port. An electronic version of this report is available on the North Carolina Office of the State
Controller’s website at https://www.osc.nc.gov/ or by calling the State Controller’s Financial Re-
porting Section at (919) 707-0500.

TSERS Basis of Accounting: The financial statements of the TSERS plan were prepared using
the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which
the contributions are due. Employer contributions are recognized when due and the employer
has a legal requirement to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the terms of each plan. For purposes of measuring the net
pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the TSERS plan,
and additions to/deductions from the TSERS plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined
on the same basis as they are reported by TSERS.
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Methods Used to Value TSERS Investment: Pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes, the State
Treasurer is the custodian and administrator of the retirement systems. The State Treasurer main-
tains various investment portfolios in its External Investment Pool. TSERS and other pension plans
of the State of North Carolina participate in the Long-Term Investment, Fixed Income Investment,
Equity Investment, Real Estate Investment, Alternative Investment, Opportunistic Fixed Income
Investment, and Inflation Sensitive Investment Portfolios. The Fixed Income Asset Class includes
the Long-Term Investment and Fixed Income Investment Portfolios. The Global Equity Asset Class
includes the Equity Investment Portfolio. The investment balance of each pension trust fund repre-
sents its share of the fair value of the net position of the various portfolios within the External In-
vestment Pool. Detailed descriptions of the methods and significant assumptions regarding invest-
ments of the State Treasurer are provided in the 2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

Net Pension Liability: At June 30, 2021, the University reported a liability of $274,052,313 for its
proportionate share of the collective net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured
as of June 30, 2020. The total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was deter-
mined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019, and update procedures were used to roll
forward the total pension liability to June 30, 2020. The University’s proportion of the net pension
liability was based on the present value of future salaries for the University relative to the present
value of future salaries for all participating employers, actuarially-determined. As of June 30, 2020,
the University's proportion was 2.26827%, which was an increase of 0.00721 from its proportion
measured as of June 30, 2019, which was 2.26106%.

Actuarial Assumptions: The following table presents the actuarial assumptions used to determine
the total pension liability for the TSERS plan at the actuarial valuation date:

Valuation Date 12/31/2019
Inflation 3%
Salary Increases* 3.5%-8.1%
Investment Rate of Return** 7%

* Salary increases include 3.5% inflation and productivity factor.
** Investment rate of return includes inflation assumption and is net
of pension plan investment expense.

TSERS currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. teacher,
general, law enforcement officer), and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mor-
tality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of
the U.S. population. The mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality im-
provements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2019 valuations were based on the results
of an actuarial experience review for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.

Future ad hoc cost of living adjustment amounts are not considered to be substantively automat-
ic and are therefore not included in the measurement.

The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through
review of current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant
whitepapers, and historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projec-
tions reflect current yields across the U.S. Treasury yield curve and market expectations of for-
ward yields projected and interpolated for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global
public equity return projections are established through analysis of the equity risk premium and
the fixed income return projections. Other asset categories and strategies’ return projections
reflect the foregoing and historical data analysis. These projections are combined to produce the
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic
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real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation
as of June 30, 2020 (the valuation date) are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term
Expected Real Rate

Asset Class of Return
Fixed Income 1.4%
Global Equity 5.3%
Real Estate 4.3%
Alternatives 8.9%
Opportunistic Fixed Income 6.0%
Inflation Sensitive 4.0%

The information in the preceding table is based on 30-year expectations developed with the con-
sulting actuary and is part of the asset, liability, and investment policy of the North Carolina Retire-
ment Systems. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arith-
metic annualized figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplica-
tively subtracting a long-term inflation assumption of 3.05%. Return projections do not include any
excess return expectations over benchmark averages. All rates of r<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>